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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

| report to shareholders the results of Termbray Industries International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2021. The Group
recorded a profit for the year of HK$21,267,000 compared with a profit for the nine-month period ended
31 December 2020 of HK$45,959,000 recorded last year.

DIVIDEND

No interim dividend was paid by the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2021 (30 September
2020: Nil).

The board of directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM") is scheduled to be held on Friday, 10
June 2022. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 6 June 2022 to Friday, 10 June 2022 (both days inclusive), during
which no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for attendance of AGM, all completed
transfer forms accompanied with the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Standard Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 2 June 2022.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Property development and investment

The Group’s completed properties for sale — Ever Success Plaza, comprising of over 440 residential units
standing on 3 levels of commercial arcades and car parks, is located at a convenient and prime location with
a river view in Zhongshan, Guangdong Province. The competition in the property market in Zhongshan is
keen as there are abundant supplies of properties with modern design. Although the commercial arcades
are still vacant, the management has put a lot of effort in marketing the properties and is endeavouring to
improve the operation of the commercial arcades.

There is not much improvement in the operating environment in year 2021. The sales activities of the
Group's property project in Zhongshan for the remaining residential units were not satisfactory during the
year.

In Zhongshan, all sale and purchase agreements entered into during the period under review have to be
approved by the relevant government authorities before they can be registered in the government’s property
sales system. During the year, 2 sale transactions were approved and registered in the government’s property
sale system. The Group has recognised the sale of 2 residential units during the year (nine-month period
ended 31 December 2020: 3 units). The rental income earned by the Group from Ever Success Plaza during
the year ended 31 December 2021 increased by approximately 17% compared with the nine-month period
ended 31 December 2020 since there was operation for only nine months in the previous period. As at
31 December 2021, 56 residential units remained to be sold, out of which 8 residential units were let out.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Money lending

Although the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19") pandemic has posed extraordinary challenges for
Hong Kong's economy since early 2020, our money lending business still achieved satisfactory and healthy
growth for the year of 2021. The acquisition of Zero Finance Group, which was completed on 30 October
2020, has strengthened our money lending services by having an automated mobile application “X Wallet”,
which is supported by unique financial technology. The number of registered users of “X Wallet” increased
from 43,489 as at 31 December 2020 to 62,765 as at 31 December 2021. The number of current customers
of “X Wallet” increased from 4,384 as at 31 December 2020 to 8,269 as at 31 December 2021. The
increase in number of current customers improved the results of unsecured loan and generated a revenue
of approximately HK$54 million during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Meanwhile, X8 Finance Limited (“X8 Finance”) will focus on providing mortgage loans for purchasers of
residential properties in Hong Kong. Though there was a general recovery of the economy, the overall
economic activity remained below the pre-pandemic level and the loan demand remained relatively subdued.
The management will cautiously carry out the money lending business in Hong Kong. With the economic
uncertainty and potential challenges, the management will carefully assess the credit worthiness of the
borrowers as well as the quality and leverage of the mortgaged properties.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

OUTLOOK

With new rules taken by the Chinese government to cool down property speculation and credit expansion,
property market in China has experienced a wider slowdown period. Regulators in China capped the
percentage of mortgages and property-related loans that banks may hold. The price of new residential
properties continued to fall during the last three months in 2021. As the property market environment is
under adjustment, the Group will take more caution in exploring investment opportunities.

Under the COVID-19 pandemic, the macro-economic growth of Hong Kong is facing the largest crisis since
the bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers in 2008. Along with the relative strained relationship between US and
China, and the evolving new variants of COVID-19, in the second half of 2021, Hong Kong's stock market
did not perform as well as that in the first half of 2021.

With the launch of COVID-19 vaccines, and relevant departments of the Central government and Guangdong
Province delegating expert teams to Hong Kong to assist in work, sending nucleic acid testing personnel
to Hong Kong, assisting in the construction of community isolation and treatment facilities, providing
rapid antigen test kits and other medical materials, and ensuring the supply of daily necessities to Hong
Kong, the Group anticipates a recovery to the economic environment in Hong Kong, which will stimulate
consumption in the private sector.

Despite forthcoming challenges, the Group strives to adapt to the new norm under the COVID-19 pandemic.
In order to balance the well-being of the shareholders, the Group has to ensure the offices are fully
functional, as well as to protect the health and safety of our colleagues, customers, business partners and
the communities. As it is particularly challenging to the market, under the social distancing measures, the
Group foresees a better outlook in offering 24x7 uninterrupted personal loan services to its customers under
all circumstances via automated mobile APP "X Wallet”.

The Group will further expand the loan portfolio of “X Wallet” and diversify its offerings to optimise the
lending experience for customers, in order to enhance its unsecured loan market segment competitiveness.
Meanwhile, the Group will strengthen its secured loan business development by offering more unique and
quality mortgage loan products and services to its clients.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

With a number of challenges which are yet to be resolved, the gloomy economic outlook and market
instability which are expected to remain, the Group will actively review its loan portfolio and risk control
status; conduct more comprehensive assessments of collaterals and exercise stringent loan application
requirement to minimise default risk. Looking ahead, the Group will adhere to its core risk management
and endeavour to improve and perfect its risk pricing model, and will adopt a variety of marketing strategies
to popularize the brand of “X Wallet” to achieve greater market recognition.

Lee Lap
Chairman
25 March 2022

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RESULTS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group achieved a revenue of HK$112,435,000 and
recorded a profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 of HK$21,267,000, compared with a revenue of
HK$24,963,000 and profit of HK$45,959,000 for the nine-month period ended 31 December 2020.

The decrease in profit for the year in current year is due to the one-off effect from the bargain purchase

and related expenses arising from the acquisition of akEasy Credit Investment Limited together with its
subsidiaries (“Zero Finance Group”) in 2020.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The profit for the current year under review is primarily due to the aggregate effect upon recognition of
the following items:

(i) foreign exchange gain arising from the revaluation of the Renminbi currency by approximately 2%
during the year ended 31 December 2021; and

(i) fair value losses of HK$6.78 million on investment properties.
REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

Nine-month

Year ended period ended

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

Sale of properties in the PRC (Note) 1,765 2,422
Rental income from investment property and

completed properties for sale 3,691 2,688

Interest income from money lending business 106,979 19,853

112,435 24,963

Note: Revenue from sales of properties is recognised at a point in time. All sale of properties are entered in a contract that has an
original expected completion of one year or less.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the information reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM") that are used to make strategic decisions. The CODM is identified as
the Executive Directors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the CODM assessed the performance of the Group by reviewing
the results of two reportable segments:

Property development - Property development for sale of properties in the PRC and property
and investment investment for letting of properties in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Money lending - Provide mortgage and personal loan financing to customers.

The CODM reviews the performance of the Group on a regular basis and reviews the Group’s internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

Information provided to the CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

The segment results and other segment items are as follows:

Property
development Money
and investment lending Total
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
For the year ended 31 December 2021
REVENUE 5,456 106,979 112,435
Segment results 564 41,934 42,498
Unallocated other income 19
Unallocated other gains, net 1,054
Unallocated expenses (11,834)
Profit before income tax 31,737

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Property
development Money
and investment lending Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
For the nine-month period ended
31 December 2020
REVENUE 5,110 19,853 24,963
Segment results 18,231 10,319 28,550
Unallocated other income 280
Unallocated other gains, net 45,097
Unallocated expenses (27,384)
Profit before income tax 46,543

For the year ended 31 December 2021, unallocated expenses and unallocated other gains and losses
represent corporate expenses and unrealised net exchange gains/(losses) (nine-month period ended 31
December 2020: bargain purchase from acquisition of subsidiaries, acquisition-related costs, corporate
expenses and unrealised net exchange gains/(losses)), respectively. Segment results represent the profit/
(loss) before income tax earned by each segment without allocation of certain other income, other gains
and losses and expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation

and performance assessment.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Group's revenue from external customers is presented based on location where the goods are delivered

and services are rendered:

Revenue from
external customers

Nine-month

Year ended period ended

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Hong Kong 108,839 21,248
The PRC 3,596 3,715
112,435 24,963

A more detailed analysis of the Group’s segment information is set out in note 5 to the consolidated

financial statements.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED

The Group’s aim is to increase shareholders’ value. The extent to which this goal has been achieved is
assessed by computing Return on Capital Employed (“ROCE") over the year and comparing this measure
from one year to the next, as it is a measure of how well the money invested in the business is providing
a return to investors.

ROCE measures the operating result as a percentage of the average total capital employed (invested) in the
business over the year. The Group uses “Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization” as
a measure of operating result for this purpose. The Group considers its “capital” to comprise equity plus
non-current debt financing. Figures from the consolidated financial statements of the Group are used to
calculate the ROCE.

Nine-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
Operating result for calculation of ROCE
Profit before taxation 31,737 46,543
Add: interest expense, depreciation and amortization charges 16,139 6,878
acquisition-related costs* - 16,734
Less: bargain purchase from acquisition of subsidiaries* - (41,300)
47,876 28,855
Capital employed
Equities 1,122,902 1,160,421
Add: non-current debt financing 146,742 166,183
1,269,644 1,326,604
Average capital employed
(Opening capital employed + closing capital employed)/ 2 1,298,124 1,117,482
Consolidated ROCE% 3.69% 2.58%

* Non-recurring items

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group remains cash-sufficient and there is no material capital expenditure
commitments other than the purchase consideration payable under the acquisition of the Zero Finance
Group. The operations are financed by capital and reserves.

Bank balances and cash amounted to approximately HK$181 million and accounted for approximately 55%
of total current assets.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
total equity. Net debt is calculated as total liabilities (including current and non-current liabilities as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity is calculated
as 'equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group was in a net debt position as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: net cash position).
The Group mainly operates in the PRC and Hong Kong, and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising

from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to Renminbi. No financial instrument is arranged
for hedging purposes in respect of interest rate and currency.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's operations were financed by capital and reserves.

HK$'000
1,500,000
1,200,000 1,160,421
1,122,902
213,411 908,360
900,000
156,611
600,000
751,749
300,000
0
Year ended Nine-month period Year ended
31/12/2021 ended 31/12/2020 31/3/2020
| |
Reserves Share Capital

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ORDER BOOK

Due to its business nature, the Group has no order book at 31 December 2021. The Group has no new
product and services to be introduced to the market.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

With regard to the environmental policies, the Group aims to minimize the Group’s environmental impact.
The Group has adopted various environmental protection measures for energy efficiency, carbon reduction
and to improve efficiency of water usage. These measures are regularly reviewed and results are closely
monitored.

A report containing the prescribed information of environmental, social and governance matters will be
published within 5 months after the financial year end.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Directors are aware, there was no material non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the Group’s business and operations.

RELATIONSHIP WITH MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining good relationship with its customers and suppliers
to meet its immediate and long term goals.

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group's largest customer and five largest customers accounted for
approximately 6.2% and 13.9% respectively of the Group’s revenue for the year. The five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total purchases for the year.

During the year, the Group has not made any purchases other than incurring rental outgoings and overhead
expenses.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Save as the connected transaction disclosed in pages 27 to 28 of this report, none of the Company’s
directors, their associates or any shareholders of the Company (who to the best of knowledge of the
Company’s directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had a beneficial interest in
any of the Group’s five largest customers and the five largest suppliers.

The Group has good relationship with its customers and suppliers. During the year ended 31 December
2021, there was no significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or customers, except for
the recovery actions against customers in their ordinary course of money lending business.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAFF AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

One of most important resource of the Group is employees. It is the Group’s policy to comply with all
applicable laws and regulations, including those concerning employment, compensation, minimum wages,
occupational safety and privacy. The Group strictly prohibits discrimination or harassment against any
employee because of the individual’s race, religion, gender, age, or any status protected by law. The Group
also values good conduct of employees and has set out clear guidelines to prevent bribery and to regulate
the acceptance of benefits by the employees.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed 47 staff at market remunerations with staff benefits such
as insurance, provident fund scheme and discretionary bonus.

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is based on their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emoluments of the directors are reviewed by the remuneration committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. No director,
or any of his associates, and executive is involved in dealing his own remuneration.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Board of the Company presents its annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2021 were
property development and investment and money lending business in Hong Kong.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance,
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 3 to 8
and the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 9 to 16 of this annual report. This discussion
forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Besides, details of financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 94. There may be other risks and uncertainties in
addition to those mentioned above which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now
but could turn out to be material in future.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the state of affairs of the Group as at
that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to 142.

DIVIDEND

No interim dividend was paid by the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2021 (30 September
2020: Nil).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021
(nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: Nil).

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The AGM is scheduled to be held on Friday, 10 June 2022. For determining the entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 6 June 2022 to
Friday, 10 June 2022 (both days inclusive), during which no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to
qualify for attendance of AGM, all completed transfer forms accompanied with the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Standard Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 2 June 2022.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 and note 17 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

MAJOR PROPERTIES
Particulars of the Group’s major completed properties for sale are set out on page 143.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 57.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had not made any charitable and other donations
(nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: Nil).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five year financial summary of the Group is set out on pages 144 to 146.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2021 were as follows:

HK$’'000
Contributed surplus 191,810
Retained earnings 153,172
344,982

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus account of the Company
is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus if:

(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(i)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issue
share capital and share premium account.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Lap

Mr. Tommy Lee

Mr. Chau Hau Shing (appointed on 8 April 2021)
Mr. Wong Shiu Kee (resigned on 8 April 2021)

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Yiu Hee
Mr. Tong Hin Wor
Mr. Ching Yu Lung

Mr. Lo Yiu Hee and Mr. Ching Yu Lung, being the directors longest in office since their last re-election, shall
retire by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Bye-law 99(A). All retiring directors, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of the independent non-executive directors as
regards their independence to the Company pursuant to paragraph 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers
that each of the independent non-executive directors is independent to the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Lee Lap has a service contract with the Company for service as executive director which is terminable
by either party giving to the other party not less than six months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Tommy Lee and Mr. Chau Hau Shing have respectively a service contract with the Company for service
as executive director which is terminable by either party giving to the other party not less than three months’
prior notice in writing.

Mr. Lo Yiu Hee, Mr. Tong Hin Wor and Mr. Ching Yu Lung, the independent non-executive directors
have respectively entered into an appointment letter with the Company for service as an independent
non-executive director for a term of 2 years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2022, which appointment
shall terminate on the earlier of (i) 31 December 2022; or (ii) the date on which the director concerned
ceases to be an independent non-executive director pursuant to the Bye-laws or any other applicable laws.

Other than the aforesaid, none of the directors had any existing or proposed service contract with any
member of the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Lap, aged 79, is the Chairman of the Company and he is also a member of the remuneration
committee and the Chairman of the nomination committee of the Board of the Company. He is the founder
of the Group and has been actively involved in the printed circuit board and electronics industry in Hong
Kong since 1968. Mr. Lee is responsible for overall policy and decision making and business development
of the Group. Mr. Lee is an honorary citizen of Zhongshan, Shenzhen and Guangzhou in PRC.

Mr. Tommy Lee, aged 45, is the Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 2008 and
2010 respectively. He is the son of Mr. Lee Lap. He studied Economics in the Seneca College in Canada. Mr.
Lee had been the Vice President of a private company which is principally engaged in the manufacture and
sale of printed circuit board and he was responsible for the overall management and strategic planning of
the private company. Mr. Tommy Lee resigned as the non-executive director of Petro-king Oilfield Services
Limited and director of Guangdong Ellington Electronics Technology Company Limited with effect from 21
April 2021 and 17 December 2021 respectively.

Mr. Chau Hau Shing, aged 45, was appointed as an executive director on 8 April 2021. He is the executive
director and president of Zero Finance Hong Kong Limited (“Zero Finance”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company. Mr. Chau has worked in the money lending industry for more than 20 years since 1996
and has gained extensive experience in the industry. He worked in well-known enterprises of the industry
based in Hong Kong and Mainland China, such as Prime Credit Limited and United Asia Finance Limited
in which he had led the overall construction and strategic planning of the money lending business system.
He has profound market insight and research in fields like risk management, finance and credit. He has
been employing by an entity controlled by Mr. Tommy Lee, the vice chairman, chief executive officer and
substantial shareholder of the Company, since April 2014 and acting in the capacity of the president of
Zero Finance.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Yiu Hee, aged 64, was appointed as independent non-executive director in 2004 and is the
Chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Board of the Company. He holds bachelor and master degrees in business administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lo is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and CPA Australia. Mr. Lo has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting
in various listed companies. He was the Vice President of CPA Australia, Hong Kong China Division for
2000/01 and 2003/04, and councilor from 1997 to 2006 and a member of the Disciplinary Panel of CPA
Australia from 2009 to 2014. He retired as the chief financial officer of an apparel manufacturing company
in November 2021.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Mr. Tong Hin Wor, aged 77, was appointed as independent non-executive director in 2008 and is a member
of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Board of the
Company. He holds a diploma in management studies from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Tong
has over 30 years of working experience in financial management. Mr. Tong was the financial controller
of Termbray Electronics Company Limited in 1991. He was the financial controller of Karrie Industrial
Company Limited, a company principally engaged in electronics and sheet metal manufacturing in 1993,
the Group controller of Elec & Eltek (International) Limited in 1995 and the Group vice president of Elec &
Eltek Corporate Services Limited from 1995 to 2004. Mr. Tong is an independent non-executive director of
Petro-king Qilfield Services Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Ching Yu Lung, aged 52, was appointed as independent non-executive director in November 2016
and is a member of the audit committee of the Board of the Company. He has more than 29 years of
experience in auditing, corporate finance and accounting. Mr. Ching is currently the chief financial officer of
a listed company on the Stock Exchange. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong and executive master degree in business administration from Tsinghua
University in 1992 and 2006, respectively. Mr. Ching is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ching is an independent non-executive director of Hopson
Development Holdings Limited, Ngai Hing Hong Company Limited and Shenzhen Investment Holdings Bay
Area Development Company Limited which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ching resigned as an
independent non-executive director of AMVIG Holdings Limited with effect from 20 April 2021.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The directors are closely involved in and are directly responsible for all activities of the Group. The Board
considers that only the aboved-mentioned three executive directors are regarded as members of the Group's
senior management.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EMPLOYEES

Details of the emoluments of directors and senior employees are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS

The interests of the Company’s directors, chief executives and their associates in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations as at 31 December 2021 as recorded
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO") or otherwise notified pursuant to Divisions 7 to 9 of Part XV of the SFO, were as follows:

(A) Long Positions in Shares of the Company

Number of Shares

Percentage

of total

Personal Family  Corporate Other issued

Name of director interest  interest interest interest Total shares

Mr. Lee Lap - - - 1,252,752,780 1,252,752,780 46.96%
(note 1)

Mr. Tommy Lee - - 710,000,000 1,252,752,780 1,962,752,780 73.58%
(note 2) (note 1)

Mr. Chau Hau Shing 6,244,000 - - - 6,244,000 0.23%

Note:

1. The 1,252,752,780 shares included under the other interest of Mr. Lee Lap and Mr. Tommy Lee are held by Lee &
Leung (B.V.l.) Limited. Lee & Leung (B.V.l.) Limited is wholly-owned by Lee & Leung Family Investment Limited, which
is wholly owned by HSBC International Trustee Limited as trustee for Lee & Leung Family Trust. Mr. Lee Lap is the
settlor of the Lee & Leung Family Trust. The discretionary beneficiaries of the Lee & Leung Family Trust are the spouse
and certain children of Mr. Lee Lap (including Mr. Tommy Lee) and the offspring of such children.

2. The 710,000,000 shares were issued to Earth Axis Investment Limited which is indirectly controlled by Mr. Tommy

Lee as partial settlement of the consideration of the acquisition upon completion of the sale and purchase agreement
dated 23 September 2020.
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(B) Long Positions in Shares of Other Associated Corporations

Number of non-voting deferred % of total issued

shares held (Note) non-voting

Name of director Name of subsidiary Personal Interest ~ Spouse interest Total  deferred shares
Mr. Lee Lap Applied Industrial Company Limited 1,000 1,500 2,500 100%
Lee Plastics Manufacturing Company Limited 250,000 250,000 500,000 100%

Magnetic Electronics Limited 5,000 - 5,000 100%

Termbray Electronics Company Limited 7,000 3,000 10,000 100%

Note: All the above non-voting deferred shares are held by the director or his spouse personally as beneficial owner.

Except as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO.

At no time during the year, the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

During the year, the Group had entered into transaction with Panda Investment Company Limited (“Panda
Investment”), which are described in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Lee Lap has
beneficial interests in Panda Investment.

During the year, one of the Group’s properties has been leased to Mr. Lee Wing Keung, the son of Mr. Lee
Lap, details of which are disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction”.

Save as aforementioned, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the Group's business to which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party of
subsisted at the end of the year or any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Pursuant to paragraph 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the Company discloses that Mr. Lee Lap is interested in
companies engaged in property development and investment in Mainland China and Hong Kong and Mr.
Tommy Lee is interested in companies engaged in money lending business in Hong Kong (”Competing
Business”).

The Board of the Company has continuously monitored to identify conflict of interest (if any) due to the
interests of Mr. Lee Lap and Mr. Tommy Lee respectively. If conflict of interest arises, Mr. Lee Lap or Mr.
Tommy Lee (as the case may be) will abstain from participating in making any decision. The Company is
therefore capable of carrying on its business independently of, and at arm’s length from the Competing
Businesses.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The persons (other than the directors as disclosed in the “Directors’ interest in Shares and Options”)
interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2021 as recorded
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Ordinary Share of the Company

Number of  Percentage of

issued ordinary the issued

shares of share capital

HK$0.08 of the

Name of shareholders Capacity each held Company

Lee & Leung (B.V.1.) Limited (note 1) Beneficial owner 1,252,752,780 46.96%

Lee & Leung Family Investment Limited (note 1)~ Held by controlled corporation 1,252,752,780 46.96%

HSBC International Trustee Limited (note 1) Held by controlled corporation as 1,252,752,780 46.96%
trustee for Lee & Leung Family Trust

Cosmo Telecommunication Inc. (note 2) Beneficial owner 151,202,960 5.67%

Ms. Jing Xiao Ju (note 2) Held by controlled corporation 151,202,960 5.67%

East Glory Trading Limited (note 3) Beneficial owner 103,397,540 3.88%

Master Winner Limited (note 3) Held by controlled corporation 103,397,540 3.88%

Mr. Yuan Qinghua (note 3) Held by controlled corporation 103,397,540 3.88%

Earth Axis Investment Limited (note 4) Beneficial owner 710,000,000 26.62%

akasy Finance Holdings Limited (note 4) Held by controlled corporation 710,000,000 26.62%
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Notes:

(1) The 1,252,752,780 shares are held by Lee & Leung (B.V.l.) Limited. Lee & Leung (B.V.l.) Limited is wholly owned by Lee &
Leung Family Investment Limited, which is wholly owned by HSBC International Trustee Limited as trustee for Lee & Leung
Family Trust. Mr. Lee Lap is the settlor of Lee & Leung Family Trust. The discretionary beneficiaries of Lee & Leung Family Trust
are the spouse and certain children of Mr. Lee Lap (including Mr. Tommy Lee) and the offspring of such children.

(2) Cosmo Telecommunication Inc. is a wholly owned by Ms. Jing Xiao Ju.

(3) East Glory Trading Limited is wholly owned by Master Winner Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by Mr. Yuan Qinghua.
Following the allotment and issue of shares of the Company as partial settlement of the consideration on completion of the
sale and purchase agreement dated 23 September 2020, the Company has not received notifications of disclosure of interests
from these shareholders reporting change in number of shares. Based on the issued shares as at 31 December 2021, the
percentage level of these shareholders was reduced to below 5%.

(4) The 710,000,000 shares were issued to Earth Axis Investment Limited as partial settlement of the consideration of the
acquisition upon completion of the sale and purchase agreement dated 23 September 2020. Earth Axis Investment Limited is
wholly owned by aEasy Finance Holdings Limited which is indirectly controlled by Mr. Tommy Lee.

Except as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other interests or short positions in
the shares or the underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or more of the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 December 2021.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Company discloses the following continuing connected
transaction entered into during the year:

Tenancy Agreement

On 4 March 2020, Termbray (Fujian) Land Development Company Limited (“Termbray Fujian”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, as lessor and Mr. Lee Wing Keung as lessee renewed a lease agreement,
pursuant to which the lessee will lease a residential property in the Hong Kong Island with a gross floor
area of approximately 334 square metres from the lessor for a term of three years from 16 March 2020
to 15 March 2023 at a monthly rent of HK$155,000 (exclusive of rates, management fees and utility
charges). The monthly rent is based on a valuation report as at 31 January 2020 issued by Vigers Appraisal
& Consulting Limited.
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The rental income earned by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 was HK$1,860,000
(nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: HK$1,395,000). Mr. Lee Wing Keung is the son of Mr. Lee
Lap (an executive Director and the Chairman of the Company) and is also the brother of Mr. Tommy Lee
(an executive Director and the Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company) and, as such,
is an associate of Mr. Lee Lap and Mr. Tommy Lee respectively and is therefore a connected person of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the entering into of the above lease
agreements constitute continuing connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the above transaction and opined
that the connected transaction has been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company,
(i)  on normal commercial terms, and

(iii)  in accordance with the relevant agreement governing it on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transaction in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Review of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Pursuant to the Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules,
the auditor has issued a letter to the Board of the Company that nothing has come to their attention that
causes them to believe that the continuing connected transaction disclosed by the Group:

(@)  have not been approved by the Board;
(b)  were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Company;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
such transaction; and

(d)  have exceeded the cap.
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PROVIDENT FUND SCHEMES

The Group has mandatory provident fund schemes (“MPF Schemes”) managed by a banking group and an
insurance group respectively. All staff employed in Hong Kong joined the MPF Schemes. The MPF Schemes
are defined contribution scheme and the assets of which are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds. Both of the employer and the employee are required to make mandatory
contributions to the MPF Schemes calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly relevant income, subject to
the rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group had no forfeited contributions (nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: Nil) available to
offset future employers’ contributions to the MPF Schemes.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. The subsidiary is required to contribute certain percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to this retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The contribution made by the Group charged to the income statement in respect of the year ended 31
December 2021 are as follows:

Nine-month

Year ended period ended

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Gross employer’s contributions 583 197
Less: Forfeited contributions - -
Net contributions 583 197

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of its directors,
as of the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of the shares of the Company with not less than
25% of the total issued shares of the Company as required under the Listing Rules.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws although there are no statutory
restrictions against such rights under the laws in Bermuda.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company'’s Bye-laws provided that the directors for the time being of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices
or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own willful neglect or default,
fraud or dishonesty respectively.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs associated with defending any
proceedings which may be brought against directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year was the Company, its parent company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, the nine-month period ended 31 December
2020 and the year ended 31 December 2021 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.

A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Termbray Industries International (Holdings) Limited

Lee Lap
Chairman
25 March 2022
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance and firmly believes
that maintaining a good, solid and sensible framework of corporate governance will help ensure that the
Company's business is run in the best interests of its shareholders as a whole.

The Company has adopted all the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (“the CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules as its own code on corporate governance practices.

The Company has complied with the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2021 save as disclosed
below.

Pursuant to code provision A.4.2. of the CG Code, every director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The Company is subject
to a private act called “The Termbray Industries International (Holdings) Limited Act 1991". Section 4(g) of
the said Act provides that: “Notwithstanding anything contained in the Companies Act or rule of law to the
contrary, the directors of the Company shall not be required to be elected at each annual general meeting,
but shall (save for any chairman or managing director) be subject to retirement by rotation in such manner
and at such frequency as the Bye-laws may provide.” Accordingly, the chairman and managing director of
the Company may not be made subject to retirement by rotation. The Company has amended its Bye-laws to
provide that every director of the Company, other than directors holding the office of chairman or managing
director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years, while directors holding the
office of chairman or managing director shall be subject to re-election once every 3 years.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with leading the Group in a responsible and effective manner. Each director has
to carry out his/her duties in utmost good faith above and beyond any prevailing applicable laws and
regulations and act in the best interests of the shareholders. The duties of the Board include establishing
the strategic direction of the Group, setting objectives and monitoring the performance of the Group.

The Board has established schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board for its decision and those
reserved for the management. The Board reviews this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains
appropriate to the needs of the Company.

The Board of the Company consists of 3 executive directors and 3 independent non-executive directors.
The brief biographical details of the existing directors are described on pages 21 and 22 of the annual
report. Saved as disclosed therein, there are no other business, financial, family and other relevant interests
among directors.

On 8 April 2021, Mr. Wong Shiu Kee resigned as executive director and Mr. Chau Hau Shing was appointed
as executive director.
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The Chairman and the chief executive officer have different roles. The Chairman is responsible for the
operation of the Board and the chief executive officer is responsible for managing the operations of the
Group. Their functions have been clearly divided to ensure a balanced distribution of power and authority
not concentrating on a single individual.

The independent non-executive directors, all of whom are independent of the management of the Company,
are highly experienced professionals coming from diversified industrial backgrounds. They ensure that the
Board maintains high standards of financial and other mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the Company as a whole.

Mr. Lo Yiu Hee, Mr. Tong Hin Wor and Mr. Ching Yu Lung, the independent non-executive directors,
have respectively entered into an appointment letter with the Company for service as an independent
non-executive director for a term of 2 years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2022, which appointment
shall terminate on the earlier of (i) 31 December 2022; or (ii) the date on which the director concerned
ceases to be an independent non-executive director pursuant to the bye-law of the Company or any other
applicable laws.

The Board has set up an independent professional consulting procedures and upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses.
The full Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating performance of the Group. Additional
board meetings were held when necessary. Due notice and board papers were given to all directors prior
to the meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and the CG Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties, including the following matters
attending by the Board during the year ended 31 December 2021:

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

- to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management;

- to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

- to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and directors; and

- to review the Company’s compliance with the corporate governance code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Directors of the Company are continually updated with legal and regulatory developments and the business
environment to facilitate discharge of their responsibilities. All directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects to
enable the Board as whole and each director to discharge their duties.

Continuing education and information are provided to the directors regularly to help ensuring that the
directors are appraised of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory environment in which
the Group conducts its business.

Based on the training records provided to the Company, the directors have participated in the following
training during the year ended 31 December 2021:

Attending expert
briefing/seminars/
Reading regulatory conference relevant

updates/attending to the business/
Name of directors in house briefing directors’ duties
Mr. Lee Lap (Chairman) v
Mr. Tommy Lee (Vice Chairman & Chief Executive Officer) v
Mr. Wong Shiu Kee (resigned on 8 April 2021) v v
Mr. Chau Hau Shing (appointed on 8 April 2021) v v
Mr. Lo Yiu Hee v/
Mr. Tong Hin Wor v
Mr. Ching Yu Lung v v

There were 5 board meetings held in the year ended 31 December 2021. The attendance record of each
director is shown below. All business transacted at the above meetings are well-documented and maintained
in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.
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No. of board
Name of directors meeting attended Attendance rate
Mr. Lee Lap (Chairman) 4/5 80%
Mr. Tommy Lee (Vice Chairman & Chief Executive Officer) 5/5 100%
Mr. Wong Shiu Kee (resigned on 8 April 2021) 11 100%
Mr. Chau Hau Shing (appointed on 8 April 2021) 4/4 100%
Mr. Lo Yiu Hee 2/5 40%
Mr. Tong Hin Wor 5/5 100%
Mr. Ching Yu Lung 5/5 100%

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), as the code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions.

In response to specific enquiry made, all directors (except Mr. Lo Yiu Hee who is unable to confirm due to
iliness) confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December
2021.

In addition, the Board also established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code
for senior management of the Company in respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise, there are three Board committees
namely, the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee formed under the Board,
with each performing different functions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee, which is chaired by Mr. Lo Yiu Hee, has been established with defined terms of
reference in alignment with the recommendations set out in “A Guide for Effective Audit Committees”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the code provisions set out in the
CG Code of the Listing Rules. Other members are Mr. Tong Hin Wor and Mr. Ching Yu Lung.
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The audit committee meets no less than twice a year with the senior management and the external auditors
to review the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and other financial reporting
matters, assures the completeness, accuracy and fairness of the financial statements of the Group, discuss
the effectiveness of the systems of internal control throughout the Group and most importantly, reviews all
significant business affairs managed by the executive directors in particular on connected transactions. The
audit committee also provides advice and recommendations to the Board and oversees all matters relating
to the external auditors, and it plays an important role in monitoring and safeguarding the independence
of external auditors.

The audit committee met 3 times during the financial year ended 31 December 2021. Set out below is the
summary of work done during the year under review:

to review the financial statements of the Group for the nine-month period ended 31 December 2020
and for the six months ended 30 June 2021.

- to discuss on the effectiveness of the internal control system;

- to review the internal audit report prepared by outsourced professional firm;
- to review the auditors’ statutory audit plan and the letters of representation;
- to consider and approve the 2021 audit fees; and

- to consider and approve the audit services plan and internal audit plan.

The attendance record of each member is shown below. All business transacted at the above meetings are
well-documented and maintained in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

No. of
Name of audit committee members meeting attended Attendance rate
Mr. Lo Yiu Hee (Chairman) 1/3 33.33%
Mr. Tong Hin Wor 3/3 100%
Mr. Ching Yu Lung 3/3 100%
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee, chaired by Mr. Lo Yiu Hee, has been established with defined terms of
reference. Other members are Mr. Lee Lap and Mr. Tong Hin Wor.

The Company aims to design remuneration policies that attract and retain executives needed to run the
Group successfully and to motivate executives to pursue appropriate growth strategies whilst taking into
account performance of the individual. The remuneration should reflect performance, complexity and
responsibility of the individual, and the remuneration package will be structured to include salary and
bonus to provide incentives to directors and senior management to improve their individual performances.

The role and function of the remuneration committee include formulation of the remuneration policy, review
and recommending to the Board the annual remuneration policy, and determination of the remuneration
of the executive directors.

Set out below is the summary of work done of the remuneration committee during the year under review:

- to review the remuneration policy for the year ended 31 December 2021,

- to review the remuneration of the executive directors and senior management and review the
directors’ fee of the independent non-executive directors; and

- to review the remuneration packages of new director.
The remuneration committee met once during the financial year ended 31 December 2021 with the presence

of majority of the members of the remuneration committee and also transacted business by a written
resolution. The attendance record of each member is shown below:

No. of
Name of remuneration committee members meeting attended Attendance rate
Mr. Lo Yiu Hee (Chairman) 0/1 0%
Mr. Lee Lap 11 100%
Mr. Tong Hin Wor 11 100%
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The remuneration of the senior management by band for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 is
set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$) Number of person

Nil to 1,000,000 1
Particulars regarding directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed

pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 9 and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee, chaired by Mr. Lee Lap, has been established with defined terms of reference.
Other members are Mr. Lo Yiu Hee and Mr. Tong Hin Wor.

The nomination committee is responsible for:
- review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to

complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

- identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

- assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

- make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief executive; and

- consider other topics as defined by the Board.
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The nomination committee met once during the financial year ended 31 December 2021 with the presence
of all members of the nomination committee and transacted business by written resolution to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, to assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors and to make recommendations on appointment of new director and re-election of retiring directors.
The attendance record of each member is shown below:

No. of
Name of nomination committee members meeting attended Attendance rate
Mr. Lee Lap (Chairman) 1/1 100%
Mr. Lo Yiu Hee 11 100%
Mr. Tong Hin Wor 11 100%

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy (the”Nomination Policy”) which sets out the selection
criteria and procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director. The selection criteria used in assessing
the suitability of a candidate include, inter alia, such candidate’s academic background and professional
qualifications, relevant experience in the industry, character and integrity etc.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the nomination committee reviews the structure, size and composition of
the Board periodically and makes recommendation on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy. When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an additional
director, the nomination committee identifies or selects candidates as recommended to the committee
pursuant to the criteria set out in the Nomination Policy. Based upon the recommendation of the nomination
committee, the Board deliberates and decides on the appointment. In addition, every director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation or re-election at least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-election at
each annual general meeting. The nomination committee shall review the overall contribution and service
to the Company, expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring directors, who offered himself/
herself for re-election at the annual general meeting, to determine whether such director continues to meet
the criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has formulated and adopted a board diversity policy in June 2013 setting out the approach on
diversity of the board.

The Board recognizes the importance of having a diverse board in enhancing the Board effectiveness and
corporate governance. A diverse Board will include and make good use of difference in the skills, industry
knowledge and experience, education, background and other qualities of directors of the Company and
does not discriminate on the ground of race, age, gender or religious belief. These differences will be taken
into account in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be balanced
appropriately.

The nomination committee of the Company has responsibility for identifying and nominating for approval
by the Board, candidates for appointment to the Board. It takes responsibility in assessing the appropriate
mix of experience, expertise, skills and diversity required on the Board and assessing the extent to which
the required skills are represented on the Board and overseeing the Board succession. Board appointments
will be based on merit and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board will consider and review from time to time the Board diversity policy and setting of any
measureable objects, if appropriate.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) which does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio. In considering dividend payment, the Board will take into account factors such
as depending on results of operations, working capital, financial position, future prospects, and capital
requirements, as well as any other factors which the directors of the Company may consider relevant from
time to time. The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and the Dividend Policy does not
constitute any commitment or obligation of the Company to declare dividends.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers for the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are analysed as follows:

Nine-month

Year ended period ended

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

HK$ HK$

Audit service 2,607,000 5,026,000
Non-audit service 350,000 780,000
2,957,000 5,806,000

Note: The remuneration for non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2021 includes fee regarding the review of the
interim financial report of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2021. For the nine-month period ended 31 December
2020, additional audit service fee and non-audit service fee related to acquisition of the Zero Finance Group were included
in “Acquisition-related cost” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility in preparing the financial statements. The statement
of the auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 47 to 53.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company places great importance on risk management and internal control. The Board has overall
responsibility for the systems of risk management and internal control and for reviewing their effectiveness.

During the year, the Group has complied with code provision C.2 of the CG Code of the Listing Rules
by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems. The Board is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, and oversees management
in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are described in the sections below.
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Risk management policy

A sound framework of risk oversight, risk management and internal control is fundamental to the Group’s
commitment to good corporate governance. The Group adopts a risk management policy which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations.

The management of risk within the Group is recognised as a critical part of its business operations. It
underpins reliable financial reporting, compliance with relevant legal and regulatory obligations, efficient
and effective business operations.

To manage the risk exposures faced by the Group, the Board recognises the need to identify areas of
significant business risk and to develop and implement strategies to investigate these risks as a basis of

implementing a formal system of risk management and internal control and compliance.

Risk identification sets out to identify the Company’s exposure to uncertainties. Risk types will be categorised
as strategic risks, operational risks, reporting risks and compliance risks.

The Group will undertake a formal risk assessment review and to routinely monitor and reassess material
risk exposures within the Group.

Internal control system
The Company has in place an internal control system which enables the Group to achieve objectives
regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with

applicable laws and regulations. The components of the system are shown as follows:

o Control Environment: A set of standards and procedures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk assessment: A process for identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives and
for determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures to help ensure that risk mitigation
is carried out by management.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external communication to provide the Group with the
information needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing evaluations to ensure each components of internal control is functioning.
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Internal audit function

The Group has engaged an external professional firm to perform internal audit (“IA") functions, which
consists of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public Accountants). The IA is
independent of the Group’s daily operation and carries out an assessment of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

Based on the analysis of the identified key risks over financial reporting, compliance and operation aspects
of the Group, the IA has designed a 3 year IA plan. The IA plan has been approved by the Board. According
to the established IA plan, reviews of the risk management and internal control systems are conducted
annually and the results are reported to the Board after approval by the audit committee.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2021, no significant control deficiency was identified.

During the year, the Board had also considered the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programme and
budget. Based on the results of the review, the Group will continue to take steps to further enhance the
effectiveness of the internal control system.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Lo Tai On, a representative from an external secretarial
services provider, as the company secretary of the Company. The primary contact person with the company
secretary of the Company is Mr. Wu Xiao Dong, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Mr. Lo has
confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant training.

CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

During the year, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

Shareholders are provided with detailed information about the Company set out in the interim/annual report
and/or the circular so that they can exercise their rights in an informed manner.

The Company uses a range of communication tools, such as the annual general meeting, the annual report,
interim report, various notices, announcements and circulars, to ensure the shareholders are kept well
informed of key business imperatives. Procedures for conducting a poll are explained by the Chairman of
the meeting at the general meetings of the Company.

General meetings of the Company provide a direct forum of communication between shareholders and the
Board. Shareholders are welcome to put forward enquiries to the Board or the management thereat and
the Chairman of the Board, or in his absence, an executive director of the Company, as well as chairman
of the nomination committee, remuneration committee and audit committee, or in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, and where applicable, the independent board committee, will be
commonly be present and available to answer questions and shareholders may also contact the company
secretary to direct their written enquiries.

At the annual general meeting held on 11 June 2021, separate resolution was proposed in respect of each
separate issue itemized on the agenda, including re-election of retiring directors. The Chairman of the Board
and members of all committees answered questions from shareholders.

The Chairman of the meeting explained detail procedures for conducting a poll. All the resolutions proposed
at the meetings were passed separately by way of poll. The results of the poll were published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company on 11 June 2021. No other general meeting of the Company was
held during the year.
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The attendance record of each director at the general meetings are shown below:—

General meeting

Name of directors attended Attendance rate
Mr. Lee Lap (Chairman) 11 100%
Mr. Tommy Lee (Vice Chairman & Chief Executive Officer) 1/1 100%
Mr. Wong Shiu Kee (resigned on 8 April 2021) N/A N/A
Mr. Chau Hau Shing (appointed on 8 April 2021) 11 100%
Mr. Lo Yiu Hee 0/1 0%
Mr. Tong Hin Wor 11 100%
Mr. Ching Yu Lung 11 100%

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be held on Friday, 10 June 2022. A notice
convening the annual general meeting will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company and will be dispatched together with the 2021 annual report to the shareholders of the Company.

The Company is committed to enhancing communications and relationships with its investors. Designated
management maintains an open dialogue with the press and analysts to keep them abreast of the Company’s

developments.

The Company also maintains a website at www.termbray.com.hk, where updates on the Company’s business

developments and operations, financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing as

follows:

Address: Room 2107-08, 21/F, Cosco Tower 183 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2480 4214

Email: group@termbray.com.hk
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders are entitled to requisition a special general meeting and put forward proposals at general
meeting. The procedures are as follows:—

(a) Procedures for requisitioning a special general meeting

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up-capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at general meetings of the Company may, by
written requisition to the board or the Company Secretary signed and deposited in accordance with
the Bye-laws of the Company, Bermuda Companies Act 1981, require the directors to call a special
general meeting for the transaction of business specified in the requisition.

(b) Procedures for putting forward proposals to general meeting

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying
the right to vote at general meetings of the Company or not less than 100 shareholders may, at their
expense, provide a written request to the attention of the Company Secretary signed and deposited
in accordance with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,

The procedures for the shareholders to propose a person for election of a director at an annual general
meeting is available for viewing at the Company’s website at www.termbray.com.hk.

The above procedures are subject to the Bye-laws of the Company and applicable legislation and regulation
from time to time.

Besides, the updated memorandum of association and Bye-laws of the Company has been posted on the
website of the Company at www.termbray.com.hk and the designed website of the Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk.

CONCLUSION

The Company strongly believes that the quality and standard of corporate governance reflects the quality
of the management and the operations of the Group’s business. Good corporate governance can safeguard
the proper use of funds and effective allocation of resources and to protect shareholders’ interests. The
management wholeheartedly advocates of the good practice in corporate governance and will try our best
to maintain, strengthen and improve the standard and quality of the Group’s corporate governance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Termbray Industries International (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 54 to 142, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and

other explanatory information.
Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables
o Valuation of leasehold land and buildings and investment properties

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of loan and
interest receivables

Refer to Note 3.1(b) (credit risk), Note 4 (critical
accounting estimates and judgements), Note 10
(provision for impairment of loan and interest
receivables), Note 20 (loan receivables) and Note 21
(interest receivables) to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has gross
loan and interest receivables amounted to
HK$584,009,000 and HK$5,253,000, respectively.
The provision for impairment of loan receivables as
at 31 December 2021 under the expected credit
loss (“ECL") model amounted to HK$25,772,000.

Management assessed the provision for impairment
of loan and interest receivables based on the
estimation of ECL under a “three-stage” model.
In measuring the loss allowance against loan
and interest receivables, management applied
judgement in selecting the valuation methodologies
and approach, including the staging determination
for receivables with similar risk characteristics,
and making assumptions about the probability of
default, loss given default and exposure at default
with reference to the historical delinquency ratio
of loans portfolio, collateral values and forward-
looking macroeconomic factors.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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We challenged and assessed management’s assessment of
provision for impairment of loan and interest receivables
by performing the following procedures:

understanding, evaluating and validating the key
controls over the impairment assessment of loan
and interest receivables, and assessing the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors associated;

assessing the valuation methodology and approach
adopted by management in the ECL assessment;

evaluating the appropriateness of the staging
determination and key assumptions about the
probability of default, loss given default and
exposure at default in assessing the ECL, such
as grouping of receivables with similar credit risk
characteristics, delinquency ratio and collateral
values used for the respective receivable groupings,
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors based
on historical data as well as independent market
economic data;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Impairment assessment of loan and e testing, on a sample basis, the existence and accuracy
interest receivables (Continued) of the aging of the loan and interest receivables as
at the reporting date by tracing to loan agreements;
We focused on this area because the carrying and

value of loan and interest receivables is significant
to the consolidated financial statements and e checking calculation of management’s computations

management’s impairment assessment of loan and of loss allowance.
interest receivables requires the use of significant
judgement and estimates. Based on the procedures performed, we found that

management’s judgements and estimates applied
in the impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables were supported by management provided
evidence and our market research.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 49
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



50

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of leasehold land and buildings
and investment properties

Refer to Note 4 (critical accounting estimates
and judgements), Note 16 (property, plant and
equipment) and Note 17 (investment properties) to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings and
investment properties amounted to HK$269,030,000
and HK$241,520,000, respectively, as at 31
December 2021. For the year ended 31 December
2021, a fair value loss on investment properties
of HK$6,780,000 was debited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, and a decrease in the
carrying amounts arising on the revaluation of land
and buildings of HK$58,217,000 was recognised in
the other comprehensive income.

Management engaged an independent valuer to
determine the valuation of the Group’s leasehold
land and buildings and investment properties. There
were significant judgments and estimates involved
whereby the valuations have been arrived at using
the direct comparison method or income approach,
if applicable, including unit sale prices, taking into
account adjustments for differences in transaction
time, location, frontage and size between the
comparables and the property.

The significant judgments and estimates involved in
the property valuations warrant specific audit focus
and attention.
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Our procedures performed in relation to the valuation
of leasehold land and buildings and investment
properties included:

e understanding management’s controls and
processes over the valuation, and assessing
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other relevant inherent risk factors;

e assessing the competence, capability and objectivity
of the valuer engaged by management for the
valuation;

e obtaining an understanding of the valuation
processes and significant assumptions to assess
if these approaches are consistent with the
requirements of HKFRSs and industry norms;

e assessing the methodologies and data inputs used
by the valuer, and the appropriateness of the
key assumptions, based on our knowledge of the
property industry, research of unit sale prices,
taking into account adjustments for differences
in transaction time, location, frontage and size
between the comparables and the property.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
methodologies adopted and the key assumptions used
were supported by management provided evidence
and our market research.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
all of the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Cheung Kin Bong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Year ended
31 December

Nine-month
period ended
31 December

2021 2020
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Revenue 6 112,435 24,963
Other income 7 1,749 1,691
Other (losses)/gains, net 8 (1,844) 18,873
Cost of revenue from properties sold (1,598) (1,794)
Advertising and promotion (15,945) (345)
Employee benefits expenses 9 (15,059) (6,739)
Provision for impairment of loan and interest receivables 10 (17,249) (367)
Other operating expenses 11 (23,557) (12,923)
Bargain purchase from acquisition of subsidiaries - 41,300
Acquisition-related costs - (16,734)
Operating profit 38,932 47,925
Finance costs 12 (7,195) (1,382)
Profit before income tax 31,737 46,543
Income tax expense 14 (10,470) (584)
Profit for the year/period 21267 45959
Other comprehensive (loss)/income:
[tem that may not be reclassified to profit or loss:
(Loss)/gain on revaluation of leasehold land and buildings 16 (58,217) 9,968
[tem that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations (569) (2,262)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year/period, netoftax =~ (58786) 7,706
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year/period (37,519) 53,665
HK cents HK cents
Earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company:
Basic 15 0.80 2.17
Diluted 15 0.80 2.17

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2021

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 270,950 399,241
Investment properties 17 241,520 183,300
Intangible assets 18 11,907 14,208
Deferred income tax assets 27 1,393 1,446
Loan receivables 20 479,483 348,836
Deposits 24 164 -
Pledged bank deposit - 2,000
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 1,005,417 _ 949,031
Current assets
Completed properties for sale 19 60,147 59,333
Loan receivables 20 78,754 96,921
Interest receivables 21 5,253 2,934
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 24 3,935 4,089
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 25 152 147
Cash and cash equivalents 26 180,947 256,474
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 329,188 419,898
TOTAL ASSETS 1,334,605 1,368,929
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 28 213,411 213,411
Reserves 29 909,491 947,010
Total equity 1,122,902 1,160,421

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2021

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities 27 271 238
Lease liabilities 22 554 148
Other payables and accruals 30 146,742 166,183
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 147,567 166,569
Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 30 44,478 18,235
Contract liabilities - 284
Amount due to a related company 31 1,936 2,851
Lease liabilities 22 810 700
Income tax payable 16,912 19,869
... 6436 41,939
Total liabilities . 211,703 .. 208,508
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,334,605 1,368,929

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying

notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to 142 were approved by the Board of Directors on 25

March 2022 and were signed on its behalf.

Lee Lap
Director

Tommy Lee
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Attributable to owners of the Company

(Accumulated
Property losses)/
Share Share Translation revaluation retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Balance asat 1 Aprl 2020 ] 10611 A0A30 14878 309619 B37.118) 908,360
Profit for the period - - - - 45,959 45,959
Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations - - (2,262) - - (2,262)
Gain on revaluation of leasehold land
and huildings (Note 16) - - - 9,968 - 9,968
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
fortepeiod e . R . R N 53,665
Transaction with owners
Issue of ordinary shares as consideration
for a business combination, net of
nsactoncosts o %680 ] % T 1%3%
Balance as at 31 December 2000 2340 AS966 1216 319%81 88A 1160421
Profit for the year - - - - 21,267 21,267
Exchange differences arising on translation
of foreign operations - - (569) - - (569)
Loss on revaluation of leasehold land and
buildings (Note 16) - - - (58,217) - (58,217)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income
fortheyear SR, SR (569) ... (8217)_ ... 261 (1519
Balance as at 31 December 2021 213411 545,966 12,047 321,370 30,108 1,122,902

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying

notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Nine-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 32 (67,853) 16,230
Income tax paid, net (12,928) (811)
Interest paid on lease liabilities (25) (13)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities _ _  (80,806) 15,406
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 1,681 1,250
Proceeds from disposal of a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss - 6
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (129) (6)
Net cash acquired from acquisition of subsidiaries - 43,091
Net cash generated from investing activites 1552 . 44,341
Cash flows from financing activities
Decrease in pledge bank deposit 2,000 -
Principal elements of lease payments (929) (370)
Share issue transaction costs - (404)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activites w7 (774)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (78,183) 58,973
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year/period 256,474 187,827
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,656 9,674
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/period 26 180,947 256,474

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Termbray Industries International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The Company has its listing on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in property
investment and development and money lending business of providing loans in Hong Kong.

The parent of the Company is Lee & Leung (B.V.l.) Limited which is incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands and the directors of the Company consider that its ultimate parent to be Lee & Leung Family
Investment Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is held by HSBC
International Trustee Limited for the Lee & Leung Family Trust, the settlor of which is Mr. Lee Lap.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$'000"),
unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the Group consisting of Termbray Industries
International (Holdings) Limited and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") and disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for leasehold land and buildings, investment properties and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Pursuant to a board resolution passed on 17 December 2020, the Company changed its financial
year end date from 31 March to 31 December. As a result of the change, the prior period
consolidated financial statements were made up of a nine-month period from 1 April 2020 to
31 December 2020. Therefore, the comparative amounts for the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity,
consolidated statement of cash flows and related notes, which covered the period from 1 April
2020 to 31 December 2020, are not directly comparable.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)

Relevant amendments to existing standards and conceptual framework
effective for the financial period beginning on 1 January 2021:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 Reform — Phases 2

The adoption of these amended standards and conceptual framework did not
result in any substantial change to the Group’s accounting policies. The amended
standards and conceptual framework listed above had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(b)

The following new standards and amendments to existing standards
have been issued, but are not effective for the financial year beginning
on 1 January 2021 and have not been early adopted:

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on

or after
Annual improvements Annual improvements to 1 January 2022
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual 1 January 2022
Framework

—_

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and
equipment — proceeds
before intended use

January 2022

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous contracts — cost of 1 January 2022
fulfilling a contract
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting 1 January 2023
and HKFRS Policies (amendments)
Practice Statement 2
HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts and 1 January 2023
the related Amendments
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting 1 January 2023

Estimates (amendments)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related

to assets and liabilities

arising from a single

transaction (amendments)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets  To be determined

and HKAS 28 between an investor and its
associate or joint venture

—_

January 2023

The Group has not applied any new standards and amendments to existing
standards that is not yet effective for the current accounting period. These new
standards and amendments to existing standards are not expected to have a
material impact on the Group in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiary

2.2.1

2.2.2

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to effect those returns
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Separate financial statements

Investment in a subsidiary is accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiary are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in a subsidiary is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying account of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carry amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM"). The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive Directors of the entities now comprising the Group that
makes strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates (the “functional
currency”). The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which
is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated at foreign currencies
at year-end exchange rates are generally recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair
value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that consolidated statement of financial
position;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)
(iii)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment
in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as
hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of
the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the equity holders of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over
a subsidiary that include a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are reattributed to non-controlling interest and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (that is, reduction in the Group’s ownership
interest in associates or jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and buildings are recognised at fair value based on periodic valuations by an
external independent valuer, less subsequent depreciation for buildings. A revaluation surplus
is credited to property revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity. Leasehold land and leased
office premise are considered as types of right-of-use assets.

All other property, plant and equipment stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit
or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs or revalued
amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold land Over the term of the lease
Buildings 40 years or over the remaining lease term of the
land on which the building is situated, if shorter
Furniture, fixtures, equipment 2 — 10 years
and leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles 5 — 7 years
Leased office premise Over the term of the lease

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the net proceeds with the carrying
amounts and are recognised within ‘other gains/(losses), net’ in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

Investment properties

Investment properties, principally residential properties, are held for long-term rental yields and
are not occupied by the Group. Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs. Subsequently, they are carried
at fair value. Changes in fair values are recognised within ‘other gains/(losses), net’ in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Intangible assets

The brand name and mobile application acquired in a business combination were recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite useful life and were subsequently carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Costs associated with maintaining
the mobile application are recognised as an expense as incurred.

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life using the straight-line method
over the following periods:

Brand name 10 years
Mobile application 1 year

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
comprises the cost of land, development expenditure, other attributable costs and borrowing
costs capitalized in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to estimated selling price less selling expenses.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Financial assets

(a)

(b)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

J those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"), or through profit or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in comprehensive
income or OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time
of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date,
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in comprehensive income.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

J Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in revenue
or other income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition and impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

J FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in comprehensive income. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to
comprehensive income and recognised in other gain/(losses). Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gain/(losses)
and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

J FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at
FVPL is recognised in comprehensive income and presented net within other gain/
(losses) in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
(d) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (“ECL")
associated with its debt instrument assets carried at amortised cost. The Group recognises
a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

o An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a
range of possible outcomes;

o The time value of money; and

o Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or
effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Note 3.1(b) provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.

Loan receivables and interest receivables of the Group are classified as debt investments
carried at amortised cost and are subject to the ECL model. While deposits and other
receivables, pledged bank deposit and cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

2.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

Loan and interest receivables

Loan and interest receivables are property mortgage loans and personal loans granted to
customers in the ordinary course of business. If collection of loan and interest receivables are
expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Loan and interest receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. The gross
carrying amount is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-off are credited
against “provision for impairment of loan and interest receivables” in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash

equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks with original maturities
of three months or less.

Pledged bank deposit
Pledged bank deposit represents the amount of cash pledged as collateral to banks.
Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Other payables and accruals
Other payables and accruals are obligations to pay for services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers. They are classified as current liabilities if payment

is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables and accruals are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax. Tax is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the consolidated statement of financial position date in the
countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
financial statements. However, deferred income tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated statement of financial
position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(c)

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current income tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current income tax assets and liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.18 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that
takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Group’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Pension obligations

The Group has a defined contribution plan. Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans, including the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-managed
retirement pension schemes, are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19

2.20

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of
goods and services rendered in the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown
net of value-added tax and other revenue reducing factors after eliminating sales within the
Group.

(a) Sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised at a point in time when the completed
property is delivered and transferred to customers, being at the point that the customer
obtains the control of the completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group receives a fixed percentage of the contract value as deposits from customers
or receipts in advance from customers when they sign the sale and purchase agreement.
Deposits and instalments received on properties sold prior to the date of revenue
recognition are recorded as contract liabilities under current liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(b) Rental income

Rental is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.

(c) Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

2.21 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset (included in property, plant and equipment which
are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position) and a corresponding liability
at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative
stand-alone prices.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.21 Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

J fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable
o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the

index or rate as at the commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in
the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay
to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:
o where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party

financing was received

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by the Group, which does not have recent third party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Leases (Continued)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the Group (through recent financing
or market data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the Group use that rate
as a starting point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Variable lease payments based on an index or rate are not included in the lease liability until
they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect,
the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on

the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received

. any initial direct costs, and

] restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase
option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less without a purchase option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government (including subsidies) are recognised at their fair value where there
is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended
to compensate.

2.23 Earnings per share

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners
of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial
year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the period/year and
excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings
per share to take into account, the after income tax effect of interest and other financing
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted average number
of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety types of financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

Market risk

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
Hong Kong, and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to Renminbi (“RMB"”). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions or recognised financial assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

As at 31 December 2021, if HK$ had strengthened/weakened by 5% against RMB
with all other variables held constant, the profit for the year would have been
approximately HK$5,652,000 lower/higher (nine-month period ended 31 December
2020: profit for the period would have been approximately HK$5,674,000 lower/
higher), respectively, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of HK$ denominated payables in entities whose functional currency
is RMB.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from its loan receivables (Note 20) and interest
receivables (Note 21). Loan receivables and interest receivables are issued at fixed
rates which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group has no significant assets and liabilities which were interest-bearing at
floating rates. The cash flow interest rate risk arising from assets and liabilities at
floating rates is considered to be insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. For the receivables arising from sales
of properties and property leasing, the Group managed the credit risk by fully receiving
cash. The Group closely monitors the collection of progress payments from customers
in accordance with payment schedule agreed with customers. The Group’s main income
generating activities also include lending to customers. Therefore, credit risk is a principal
risk.

The Group’s credit risk arises from deposits and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, pledged bank deposit, loan receivables and interest receivables. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis. The carrying amounts of these balances represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets which are stated as follows:

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

Carrying Carrying

amount amount

HK$’000 HK$'000

Loan receivables 558,237 445,757
Interest receivables 5,253 2,934
Deposits and other receivables 1,894 1,863
Pledged bank deposit - 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents 180,947 256,474
746,331 709,028

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, all of the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents and pledged bank deposits are deposited in major financial institutions
located in Mainland China and Hong Kong, which the Group’s management believes
are of high credit quality.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Credit risk management

The Group manages and analyses the credit risk for each of their new and existing
money-lending customers before standard payment terms and conditions are
offered. In particular, the Group manages its credit risk by:

Ensuring that the Group has appropriate credit risk practices, including an
effective system of internal control, to consistently determine adequate
allowances in accordance with the Group's stated policies and procedures,
HKFRSs and relevant supervisory guidance.

Creating credit policies to protect the Group against the identified risks
including the requirements to obtain collateral from borrowers, to perform
robust ongoing credit assessment of borrowers and to continually monitor
exposures against internal risk limits.

Limiting concentrations of exposure by type of asset, counterparties, credit
rating, geographic location etc.

If there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of
the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and
other factors.

Establishing a robust control framework regarding the authorisation structure
for the approval and renewal of credit facilities.

Developing and maintaining the Group’s processes for measuring ECL
including monitoring of credit risk, incorporation of forward-looking
information and the method used to measure ECL.

Ensuring that the Group has policies and procedures in place to appropriately
maintain and validate models used to assess and measure ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Measurement of ECL

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to the expected credit
loss model:

J loan receivables and interest receivables; and

o deposits and other receivables.

While pledged bank deposit and cash and cash equivalents are also subject to
the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was

immaterial.

Loan receivables and interest receivables

The Group measures loss allowance under HKFRS 9 ECL model. The measure of ECL
is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e., the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial assets is credit impaired, in which case interest income
is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset. The key inputs used
for measuring ECL are:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Loan receivables and interest receivables (Continued)

Probability of default (“PD");
Loss given default (“LGD"); and

Exposure at default (“EAD")

Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting judgements and
estimates include:

The Group's estimation of probabilities of default to individuals;

The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and so allowances for financial assets should be measured on a
lifetime ECL basis and the qualitative assessment;

Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice
of inputs over determination of the period over which the entity is exposed
to credit risk based on the behavioural life of the credit exposures, loss given
default and collateral recovery of the credit exposures;

Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and
economic inputs, such as delinquency ratios and collateral values, and the
effect on probabilities of default, exposures at default and losses given
default; and

Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability
weightings, to derive the economic inputs into the ECL models.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Loan receivables and interest receivables (Continued)

It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models in the context of
actual loss experience and adjust when necessary.

The Group categorises the credit quality of its loan receivables and interest
receivables according to 3 different stages under the ECL model:

o Stage 1: financial assets without significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition where loss allowance is calculated based on 12-month ECL.

o Stage 2: financial assets with significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition where loss allowance is calculated based on lifetime ECL.

o Stage 3: credit impaired assets where loss allowance is calculated based on
lifetime ECL.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Loan receivables and interest receivables (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly:

J Significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant decrease in credit rating of the debtor;

J Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o An actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

o An actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtors’ ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group monitors all financial assets that are subject to impairment requirements
to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Group will
measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Loan receivables and interest receivables (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group collects performance and default information about its credit risk
exposures and analyses all data collected using statistical model and estimates the
remaining lifetime PD of exposures and how these are expected to change over
time. The factors taken into account in this process include macro-economic data
such as delinquency rate on residential mortgage and residential property price
index. The Group generates a ‘base case’ scenario of the future direction of relevant
economic variables as well as a representative range of other possible forecast
scenarios. The Group then uses these forecasts, which are probability-weighted,
to adjust its estimates of PDs.

The Group uses different criteria to determine whether credit risk has increased
significantly and the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group has monitoring procedures in place to make sure that the criteria used
to identify significant increases in credit are effective, meaning that significant
increase in credit risk is identified before the exposure is defaulted or when the
asset becomes 30 days past due. The Group performs periodic back-testing of
its ratings to consider whether the drivers of credit risk that led to default were
accurately reflected in the rating in a timely manner.

The Group has controls and procedures in place to identify when the credit risk
of an asset improves and the definition of significant increase in credit risk is no
longer met. When this is the case the asset may move back to stage 1 from stage
2, subject to payments being up to date and the ability of the borrower to make
future payments on time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Loan receivables and interest receivables (Continued)

Default and credit-impaired

The Group considers that default has occurred when the instrument is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate. In particular,
the following qualitative indicators are taken into account in determining the risk
of default occurring:

J probable bankruptcy entered by the borrowers; and
J death of the debtor.
Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group uses forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort in its assessment of significant increase of credit risk as well as in its
measurement of ECL. The Group uses internal and external information to generate
a 'base case’ scenario of future forecast of relevant economic variables along with a
representative range of other possible forecast scenarios. The external information
used includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and
monetary authorities.

The Group uses multiple scenarios to model the nonlinear impact of assumptions
about macroeconomic factors on ECL. The Group applies probabilities to the

forecast scenarios identified.

Deposits and other receivables

Management considers that its credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition with reference to the counterparty historical default rate and current
financial position. The impairment provision is determined based on the 12-month
expected credit loss which is zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Credit risk exposure

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

According to the characteristics of risk level, the Group classifies the risk level of
financial assets included in the measurement of expected credit losses into “Risk
level 1", “Risk level 2", “Risk level 3" and “default”. “Risk level 1” means that
the asset credit quality is good, there is sufficient evidence to show that the asset
is not expected to default; “Risk level 2" means that the asset quality is relatively
good, there is no reason or there is no sufficient reason to suspect that the asset
is expected to default; “Risk level 3" refers to the unfavorable factors that may
cause or have caused an asset default, but no default event has occurred or no
significant default has occurred; The criteria for “default” are consistent with the
definition of credit-impaired assets. The following table provides an analysis of
the credit risk exposure of financial instruments applicable to the expected credit
loss measurement. The book value of the following financial assets is the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk for these assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Credit risk exposure (Continued)

The movements in book value of loan receivables

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime

Loan receivables ECL ECL ECL Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Balance as at 31 March 2020 110,848 - - 110,848
Acquisition of subsidiaries 337,861 2,669 32,876 373,406
New loans originated 68,008 - - 68,008
Repayments (82,323) (37) (3,200) (85,560)
- Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (2,468) 2,468 - -

- Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (2,595) 2,595 -
Total transfer between stages (2,468) (127) 2,595 -
Write-offs (580) (38) (1,198) (1,816)
Balance as at 31 December 2020 431,346 2,467 31,073 464,886
New loans originated 364,679 1,624 1,258 367,561
Repayments (227,392) (1,989) (7,619) (237,000)
- Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (4,605) 4,605 - -

- Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (8,088) - 8,088 -

- Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (10) 10 -
Total transfer between stages (12,693) 4,595 8,098 -
Write-offs (9,718) (636) (1,084) (11,438)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 546,222 6,061 31,726 584,009
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii) Credit risk exposure (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Movements in ECL allowance on loans to customers

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime

Loan receivables ECL ECL ECL Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Balance as at 31 March 2020 82 - - 82
Acquisition of subsidiaries 14,030 889 5,475 20,394
New loans originated 2,663 - - 2,663
Repayments (1,644) (59) (626) (2,329)
- Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (223) 223 - -

- Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (830) 830 -
Total transfer between stages (223) (607) 830 -
Change in risk parameters (1,715) 592 (558) (1,681)
Balance as at 31 December 2020 13,193 815 5,121 19,129
New loans originated 15,253 1,419 1,258 17,930
Repayments (8,549) (805) (1,493) (10,847)
- Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (54) 54 - -

- Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (195) - 195 -
- Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (9) 9 -
Total transfer between stages (249) 45 204 -
Change in risk parameters (1,841) 370 1,031 (440)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 17,807 1,844 6,121 25,772

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

89



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv) Sensitivity analysis

The allowance for credit losses is sensitive to the inputs used in internally developed
models, macroeconomic variables in the forward-looking forecasts, economic
scenario weighting and other factors considered when applying expert judgment.
Changes in these inputs, assumptions and judgments impact the assessment of

significant increase in credit risk and the measurement of ECLs.

The following table shows the impact on ECL allowance on loan receivables and
interest receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 by changing

individual inputs.

As at As at
31 December 31 December
Change in input on ECL model 2021 2020

Assuming a further 10% weighting added to
the probability of the optimistic scenario and
a corresponding 10% weighting reduction

Decrease by

Decrease by

in the base scenario HK$1,415,000 HK$648,000
Assuming a further 10% weighting added to

the probability of the pessimistic scenario and

a corresponding 10% weighting reduction Increase by Increase by

in the base scenario HK$4,136,000 HK$3,647,000
Assuming the forecast collateral value Decrease by Decrease by

increased by 10% HK$1,708,000 HK$1,780,000
Assuming the forecast collateral value Increase by Increase by

decreased by 10% HK$2,512,000 HK$4,465,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

(v) Collateral held as security

The Group holds collateral against certain loan receivables in the form of
mortgages over property. As at 31 December 2021, 62% of the Group’s gross loan
receivables were secured by mortgages over property (31 December 2020: 77 %)
and 5% of the Group’s loan receivables were secured by shares of a subsidiary of
a related party as set out in Note 34(a) (31 December 2020: 6%). The majority of
the collateral are residential properties and commercial properties, and all of the
collateral is located in Hong Kong.

In the majority of mortgage loan cases, the Group grants loans with a loan-to-value
ratio of no more than 75% of the value in the valuation report of the property
used as collateral for property mortgages. Approval from senior management of
the subsidiaries is needed for loans granted with a loan-to-value ratio that exceed
75%. Senior management of the subsidiaries meet regularly to review the loan
to value ratio and when (1) there is a significant change in the property price
index in Hong Kong; or (2) when loans are renewed. The directors and senior
management of the Group consider that the credit risk arising from the loan and
interest receivables is significantly mitigated by the property held as collateral,
with reference to the market value of the property which were valued by an
independent third party valuer as at the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s primary cash requirements, apart from granting loans to customers, are for
repayment of amount due to a related company, deferred consideration payable and
operating expenses. The Group finances its working capital requirements with funds
generated from operations.

The Group's policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents or have available
funding through borrowing from a director to meet its working capital requirements.

The below table analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period from the consolidated statement of financial position date
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Less Between Between
than one one and two and
year two years three years Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 December 2021
Other payables and accruals 44,454 160,502 - 204,956
Lease liabilities 840 560 - 1,400
Amount due to a related party 1,936 - - 1,936
47,230 161,062 - 208,292
As at 31 December 2020
Other payables and accruals 26,162 20,000 160,502 206,664
Lease liabilities 712 96 56 864
Amount due to a related party 2,851 — — 2,851
29,725 20,096 160,558 210,379
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total liabilities (including current and
non-current liabilities as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and
cash equivalents. Total equity is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group’s strategy remains unchanged and the gearing ratio and net
debt/(net cash) position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are as follows:

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Total liabilities 211,703 208,508
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 26) (180,947) (256,474)
Net debt/(net cash) 30,756 (47,966)
Total equity 1,122,902 1,160,421
Gearing ratio 0.03 N/A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation
The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value as at 31

December 2021 by level of inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such
inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)
(level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The carrying values of financial assets and financial liabilities are a reasonable approximation of
their fair values. The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded at quoted
bid prices in an active market and are classified as level 1 fair value measurement. The fair
value estimation of investment property, leasehold land and buildings, purchase consideration
and assets and liabilities acquired from business combination that are measured at fair value
are set out in Note 16 and Note 17, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)

(b)

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for loan and interest receivables
is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about
future economic conditions and credit behaviour. Explanation of the inputs, assumptions
and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is further detailed in Note 3.1(b), which
also sets out key sensitives of the ECL to changes in these elements.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting
requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

J Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;
o Determining liquidation discount from collateral value of property mortgages;
o Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; and

Establishing the number and relation weightings of forward-looking scenarios.
Taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes, land appreciation tax and withholding tax in the
PRC and Hong Kong as applicable. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

95



96

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Estimated valuation of investment properties and leasehold land
and buildings

The Group carries its investment properties and leasehold land and buildings at fair
value with changes in the fair value recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, respectively. It obtains independent valuations at least annually. At the end
of each reporting period, management updates its assessment of the fair value of the
properties, taking into account the most recent independent valuations. Refer to Note
16 and Note 17 for the assumptions, valuation techniques and fair value measurement
of investment properties and leasehold land and buildings.

Net realisable values of completed properties for sale

The Group assesses the carrying amounts of completed properties for sale according to
their net realisable value based on the realisability of these properties. Provision is made
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be
realised. The assessment requires the use of judgement and estimates.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation/
amortisation for its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of the property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets of similar nature and functions. The useful lives could
be changed as a result of asset utilisation, internal technical evaluation, environmental
and anticipated use of the assets tempered by related industry benchmark information.
Management will change the depreciation/amortisation charge where useful lives are
different from the previously estimated lives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)
(f) Business combination

The Group accounts for the business combination applying the acquisition method. The
purchase consideration, assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised and
measured on the basis of their fair values at the date of acquisition. To determine fair
value of the purchase consideration, assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the Group
make estimates and use valuation techniques when a market value is not readily available
by reference to valuation conducted by an independent professional value.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the information reviewed by the
CODM that are used to make strategic decisions. The CODM is identified as the Executive Directors
of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the CODM assessed the performance of the Group by
reviewing the results of two reportable segments:

Property development and investment — Property development for sale of properties in the PRC
and property investment for letting of properties in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

Money lending — Provide mortgage and personal loan financing to
customers.

The CODM reviews the performance of the Group on a regular basis and reviews the Group'’s internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

Information provided to the CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The segment results and other segment items are as follows:

Property
development
and Money
investment lending Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
For the year ended 31 December 2021
Revenue 5,456 106,979 112,435
Segment results 564 41,934 42,498
Unallocated other income 19
Unallocated other gains, net 1,054
Unallocated expenses (11,834)
Profit before income tax 31,737
For the nine-month period ended 31 December 2020
Revenue 5,110 19,853 24,963
Segment results 18,231 10,319 28,550
Unallocated other income 280
Unallocated other gains, net 45,097
Unallocated expenses (27,384)
Profit before income tax 46,543

For the year ended 31 December 2021, unallocated expenses and unallocated other gains and losses
represent corporate expenses and unrealised net exchange gains/(losses) (nine-month period ended 31
December 2020: bargain purchase from acquisition of subsidiaries, acquisition-related costs, corporate
expenses and unrealised net exchange gains/(losses)), respectively. Segment results represent the
profit/(loss) before income tax earned by each segment without allocation of certain other income,
other gains and losses and expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of

resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The segment assets and liabilities are as follows:

Property
development
and Money
investment lending Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

As at 31 December 2021
Assets
Segment assets 425,584 603,391 1,028,975
Unallocated assets 305,630
Consolidated total assets 1,334,605
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 11,898 196,452 208,350
Unallocated liabilities 3,353
Consolidated total liabilities 211,703
As at 31 December 2020
Assets
Segment assets 369,006 559,733 928,739
Unallocated assets 440,190
Consolidated total assets 1,368,929
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 16,968 186,777 203,745
Unallocated liabilities 4,763
Consolidated total liabilities 208,508
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

All assets are allocated to operating and reportable segments other than certain property, plant
and equipment, financial assets at FVPL, certain cash and cash equivalents and certain deposits,
prepayments and other receivables.

All liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable segments other than amount due to a related
company, deferred income tax liabilities, certain other payables and accruals and certain income tax

payable.

Amounts included in the measure of segment results are as follows:

Property
development
and Money
investment lending Unallocated Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Depreciation - (1,384) (5,259) (6,643)
Amortisation - (2,301) - (2,301)
Interest income 1,659 10 12 1,681

Interest expense - (7,195) - (7,195)
Income tax expense (2,471) (7,999) - (10,470)

For the nine-month period ended
31 December 2020

Depreciation — (514) (4,468) (4,982)
Amortisation - (514) - (514)
Interest income 1,190 7 53 1,250
Interest expense - (1,382) - (1,382)
Income tax expense 1,369 (1,953) - (584)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from external customers, based on the location where the goods are delivered and services
are rendered, and non-current assets, other than pledged bank deposits and deferred income tax
assets, by geographical location are as follows:

Revenue from external customers Non-current assets
Nine-month

Year ended period ended As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Hong Kong 108,839 21,248 1,003,985 945,585
The PRC 3,596 3,715 39 -
112,435 24,963 1,004,024 945,585

For the year ended 31 December 2021 and the nine-month period ended 31 December 2020, no
single customer contributed to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of reportable segment assets to total assets and reportable segment liabilities to total

liabilities is provided as follows:

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$000 HK$000

Reportable segment assets 1,028,975 928,739

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 152 147

Cash and cash equivalents 34,321 40,917

Property, plant and equipment 269,030 397,500

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 2,127 1,626

Total assets per consolidated statement of

financial position 1,334,605 1,368,929

Reportable segment liabilities 208,350 203,745

Amount due to a related company 1,936 2,851

Deferred income tax liabilities 271 238

Other payables and accruals 1,146 1,674
Total liabilities per consolidated statement of

financial position 211,703 208,508
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE

Nine-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$000 HK$000
Sales of properties in the PRC (Note) 1,765 2,422

Rental income from investment property and completed
properties for sale 3,691 2,688
Interest income from money lending business 106,979 19,853
112,435 24,963

Note:
has an original expected completion of one year or less.

OTHER INCOME

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised at a point in time. All sales of properties are entered in a contract that

Year ended
31 December

Nine-month
period ended
31 December

2021 2020

HK$000 HK$000

Interest income on bank deposits 1,681 1,250
Sundry income 68 117
Wage subsidies under the Employment Support Scheme - 324
1,749 1,691
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

Nine-month

Year ended period ended

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$000 HK$000

Exchange gains, net 4,936 15,587

Gain on termination of leases 3 -
Fair value gain/(losses) on financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss 5 (14)

Property, plant and equipment written off (Note 16) (8) -

Fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties (Note 17) (6,780) 3,300

(1,844) 18,873

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’

EMOLUMENTS)

Nine-month

Year ended period ended

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Wages, salaries and other allowances 14,476 6,542
Retirement benefit — defined contribution plans 583 197
15,059 6,739
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS'’
EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)

(a) Retirement benefit - defined contribution plans

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the Group contributes to a
state-sponsored retirement plan for its employees in Mainland China, which is a defined
contribution plan. The Group and its employees contribute, respectively, part of the employees’
basic wages/salary as specified by the local government, and the Group has no further
obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an independent
trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees make monthly contributions
to the scheme at 5% (nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: 5%) of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the Group’s and
the employees’ contributions were subject to a cap of HK$1,500 (nine-month period ended
31 December 2020: HK$1,500) and thereafter contributions are voluntary. No forfeited
contributions are available to reduce contributions payable in the future.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of the Group’s contributions
to the aforementioned pension schemes was approximately HK$583,000 (nine-month period
ended 31 December 2020: HK$197,000). As at 31 December 2021, the Group was not entitled
to any forfeited contributions to reduce its future contributions (31 December 2020: Nil).

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1 05
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS'’

EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)
(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year include three
(nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: two) directors whose emolument is reflected
in the analysis shown in Note 36. The emoluments payable to the remaining two (nine-month
period ended 31 December 2020: three) individuals during the period are as follows:

Nine-month

Year ended period ended

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Basic salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,309 948
Retirement benefit- defined contribution plan 36 30
1,345 978

No inducement fee nor compensation for loss of office has paid to or is receivable by any of

these individuals (nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: Nil).

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Nine-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Emolument bands
Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT OF LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

Year ended 31 December 2021

Lifetime Lifetime
expected expected
12 months credit loss credit loss
expected not credit credit
credit loss impaired impaired
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3) Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Net charge for provision for impairment on
loan and interest receivables 4,616 1,029 1,000 6,645
Write-off of loan receivables 6,323 128 4,987 11,438
Recovery of loan and interest receivables
written-off - - (834) (834)
10,939 1,157 5,153 17,249

Nine-month period ended
31 December 2020

Lifetime Lifetime
expected expected
12 months credit loss credit loss
expected not credit credit
credit loss impaired impaired
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3) Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Net reversal of provision for impairment
on loan and interest receivables (919) (74) (354) (1,347)
Write-off of loan receivables 580 38 1,198 1,816
Recovery of loan and interest
receivables written-off - - (102) (102)
(339) (36) 742 367
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Nine-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000

Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services 2,607 2,070
— Non-audit services 350 215
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) 2,301 514
Building management fees 337 290
Commission expenses 2,555 453
Computer accessories 978 311
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 16) 6,643 4,982
Expenses relating to short-term leases (Note 22) 708 574
Insurance 205 255
Legal and professional fees 1,739 962
License and registration 374 307
Motor vehicle expense 55 133
Printing expense 419 231
Secretarial fee 399 422
Utilities 264 134
Valuation and search fee 1,943 260
Others 1,680 810
23,557 12,923
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12 FINANCE COSTS

13

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nine-month

Year ended period ended

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Unwinding of interests on deferred consideration payable 7,170 1,369
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 22) 25 13
7,195 1,382

SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

Place of

Principal activities

incorporation and and place of Paid up issued Direct and
Name kind of legal entity operation share capital indirect ownership
31 31
December  December
2021 2020
Directly held:

Termbray Electronics (B.V.1.) Limited

Indirectly held:

Ever Success Properties Limited

Termbray (China) Land Development

Company Limited

British Virgin slands,
limited liability company

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Investment holding in
the PRC

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1 09
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100 ordinary shares of
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13 SUBSIDIARIES(CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

(Continued)

Place of

Principal activities

incorporation and and place of Paid up issued Direct and
Name kind of legal entity operation share capital indirect ownership
31 31
December  December
2021 2020
Indirectly held: (Continued)
Termbray (Fujian) Land Development  Hong Kong, Property investment in 10,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
Company Limited limited liability company Hong Kong HK$1 each
Termbray (Guangzhou) Hong Kong, Property holding in 10,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
Land Development limited liability company Hong Kong HK$1 each
Company Limited
Termbray Electronics Hong Kong, Investment holding and 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
Company Limited limited liability company treasury activities in -~ HK$100 each and
Hong Kong 10,000 non-voting
deferred shares of
HK$100 each
X8 Finance Limited Hong Kong, Money lending 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
limited liability company business in HK$1 each
Hong Kong
Zhongshan Ever Success The PRC, Property Registered capital of 100% 100%
Properties Limited limited liability company development in RMB1,500,000
the PRC
akasy Credit Investment Limited Hong Kong, Investment holding in 292,603,752 100% 100%
limited liability company Hong Kong ordinary shares of
HK$1 each
Zero Finance Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong, Money lending 270,500,000 100% 100%
limited liability company business in ordinary shares of
Hong Kong HK$1 each
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both periods. The Group has estimated
the tax provision for PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") according to the requirements set forth in
the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations.

Hong Kong profits tax for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been provided for the rate of
8.25% for the first HK$2,000,000 estimated assessable profits and 16.5% for estimated assessable
profits above HK$2,000,000 for an entity of the Group qualified for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. For group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided for at a flat rate of 16.5% (Nine-month period ended 31 December
2020: same).

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

Nine-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000

Current income tax
— PRC enterprise income tax 240 1,284
— PRC land appreciation tax 320 (4,310)
— Hong Kong profits tax 9,538 2,081
— Under /(over)-provision in prior years 286 (117)
... 00,384 (1,062)
Deferred income tax (Note27) ... ... .. ... 8_ .| 1,646
Income tax expense 10,470 584
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise

as follows:

Nine-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
Profit before income tax 31,737 46,543

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to
profits in the respective places of business 7,648 12,317
Income not subject to tax (1,434) (11,907)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3,650 3,383
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised - 1,218
Tax effect of LAT 320 (4,310)
Under/(over) provision in prior years 286 (117)
Income tax expense 10,470 584

The weighted average applicable tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2021 was 24.1%
(nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: 26.5%). The decrease is caused by a change in the
profitability of the Company and its subsidiaries having different tax rates in the respective places
of business.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement
is effective from 1 April 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 March 2008. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, deferred income tax has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements (Note 27) in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the
PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences,
does not plan to repatriate, and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 EARNINGS PER SHARE
15.1 Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit of the Group attributable to
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue.

Nine-month
Year ended  period ended
31 December 31 December

2021 2020
Profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$'000) 21,267 45,959
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue ('000) 2,667,643 2,120,298
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 0.80 2.17

15.2 Diluted earnings per share

There were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 31
December 2021 and the nine-month period ended 31 December 2020 and hence the diluted
earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings per share.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1 1 3
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
fixtures,
equipment Leased
Leasehold and leasehold Motor office
land Buildings  improvements vehicles premise Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Cost or valuation;
At 1 January 2021 384,790 12,710 13,690 5,900 2,508 419,598
Additions - - 129 - - 129
Write-off (Note 8) - - (16) - - (16)
Lease modification - - - - (605) (605)
Termination of leases - - - - (274) (274)
Transfer to Investment
properties (Note 17) (64,002) (2,807) - - - (66,809)
Loss on revaluation (60,568) (1,093) - - - (61,661)
At 31 December 2021 260,220 8,810 13,803 5,900 1,629 290,362
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:
At 1 January 2021 - - 12,710 5,900 1,747 20,357
Depreciation charge during
the year (Note 11) 4,549 704 538 - 852 6,643
Transfer to Investment
properties (Note 17) (1,602) (207) - - - (1,809)
Write-off (Note 8) - - (8) - - (8)
Lease modification - - - - (2,234) (2,234)
Termination of leases - - - - (93) (93)
Loss on revaluation (2,947) (497) - - - (3,444)
At 31 December 2021 - - 13,240 5,900 272 19,412
Net book value
At 31 December 2021 260,220 8,810 563 - 1,357 270,950
An analysis of cost or valuation:
At cost model - - 563 - 1,357 1,920
At revalued amount 260,220 8,810 - - - 269,030
260,220 8,810 563 - 1,357 270,950
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Furniture,
fixtures,
equipment Leased
Leasehold and leasehold Motor office
land Buildings  improvements vehicles premise Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Cost or valuation:
At 1 April 2020 378,390 13,610 10,132 5,900 1,136 409,168
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 3,552 - 1,489 5,041
Lease modification - - - - (17) (117)
Additions - - - - 6
Gain/(loss) on revaluation 6,400 (900) - - - 5,500
At 31 December 2020 384,790 12,710 13,690 5,900 2,508 419,598
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:
At 1 April 2020 = = 9,978 5,900 470 16,348
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 2,632 - 863 3,495
Depreciation charge during
the year (Note 11) 3,874 59 100 - 414 4,982
Gain on revaluation (3,874) (594) - - - (4,468)
At 31 December 2020 = = 12,710 5,900 1,747 20,357
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 384,790 12,710 980 - 761 399,241
An analysis of cost or valuation:
At cost model - - 980 - 761 1,741
At revalued amount 384,790 12,710 - - - 397,500
384,790 12,710 980 - 761 399,241

Depreciation expenses of HK$6,643,000 (nine-month period ended 31 December 2020:
HK$$4,982,000) has been charged within “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, certain leasehold land and buildings in Hong Kong
is used as accommodation to certain directors of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The Group has accounted for leasehold land and buildings using the revaluation model.
(a) Valuation process of the Group

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings were valued at 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020 by independent professionally qualified valuer, Vigers Appraisal & Consulting
Ltd (“Vigers”), who holds a recognised relevant professional qualification and have recent
experience in the locations and segments of the leasehold land and buildings valued. For
all leasehold land and buildings, their current use equates to the highest and best use. The
resulting loss arising on revaluation of HK$58,217,000 (nine-month period ended 31 December:
gain of HK$9,968,000) has been debited (nine-month period ended 31 December 2020:
credited) to the property revaluation reserve. There is no restriction on the distribution of the
property revaluation reserve to the shareholders.

The recurring fair value measurements for leasehold land and buildings are included in level
3 of the fair value hierarchy. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers
out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer. There was no transfer between 1, 2 and 3 during the year (nine-month
period ended 31 December 2020: Nil).

(b) Valuation techniques

The valuation of the property was determined using the direct comparison method (Level 3
approach) by making reference to comparable market transactions for similar properties. The
most significant input into this valuation approach is unit sale price, taking into account the
differences in transaction time, location, frontage and size etc. between the comparables and
the property, amount to HK$89,000 (31 December 2020: HK$110,700) per square foot on
saleable area basis. An increase in the unit sale price adopted would result in an increase in
the fair value measurement of the leasehold land and buildings by the same magnitude, and
vice versa.

1 1 6 TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HK$’000
At 1 April 2020 180,000
Fair value gain on revaluation (Note 8) 3,300
At 31 December 2020 183,300
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 65,000
Fair value loss on revaluation (Note 8) (6,780)
At 31 December 2021 241,520

At 31 December 2021, there were two investment properties (31 December 2020: one). One of the
investment properties of the Group was let out to Mr. Lee Wing Keung, a son of Mr. Lee Lap and
brother of Mr. Tommy Lee, directors of the Company, details of which are set out in Note 35. The
Group is still searching for potential tenant for another investment property.

The Group leases out its land and buildings under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements. The
lease term is 3 years (31 December 2020: 3 years). The Group has classified these leases as operating
leases. Rental income from this investment property for the year amounted to HK$1,860,000 (nine-
month period ended 31 December 2020: HK$1,395,000).

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term as part of ‘rental income’. Refer to Note 33 for disclosures of minimum
lease payments receivables on leases of investment property.

(a) Valuation process of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020 by independent professionally qualified valuer, Vigers, who holds a recognised relevant
professional qualification and have recent experience in the locations and segments of the
investment property valued. For the investment properties, their current use equates to the
highest and best use. The fair value gain/(loss) are included in “Other gains/(losses), net” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The recurring fair value measurement for investment properties are included in level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair
value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer. There were no transfer between 1, 2 and 3 during the year (nine-month period ended
31 December 2020: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Valuation techniques

The valuation of investment properties were determined either using the income approach
or direct comparison method (Level 3 approach) by making reference to comparable market
transactions for similar properties. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use. For the property based on income approach,
the market rental of the property under current lease is assessed and discounted at the market
yield expected by investors and provision for the reversionary potential for this type of property,
of amount to HK$56,700 (31 December 2020: HK$57,300) per square foot on saleable area
basis. For the property based on direct comparison method, the most significant input into this
valuation approach is unit sale price, taking into account the differences in transaction time,
location, frontage and size etc. between the comparables and the properties, of amount to
HK$26,400 (31 December 2020: HK$27,000) per square foot on saleable area basis. An increase
in the unit sale price adopted would result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the
investment properties by the same magnitude, and vice versa.

TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Mobile Brand
application name Total
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Cost:
At 1 April 2020 - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,242 13,480 14,722
At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021 1,242 13,480 14,722
Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
At 1 April 2020 - - -
Amortisation expenses during the period (Note 11) (289) (225) (514)
At 31 December 2020 (289) (225) (514)
Amortisation expenses during the year (Note 11) (953) (1,348) (2,301)
At 31 December 2021 (1,242) (1,573) (2,815)
Net book value
At 31 December 2021 - 11,907 11,907
At 31 December 2020 953 13,255 14,208
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19 COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE

The completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. No
impairment loss is recognised for the year ended 31 December 2021 (nine-month period ended 31
December 2020: Nil).

20 LOAN RECEIVABLES

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Gross loan receivables — property mortgage loans 363,139 359,985
Gross loan receivables — personal loans 191,870 75,901
Gross loan receivables — corporate loans (Note 34(a)) 29,000 29,000
Total gross loan receivables 584,009 464,886
Less: Provision for impairment — Stage 1 (17,807) (13,193)
Provision for impairment — Stage 2 (1,844) (815)
Provision for impairment — Stage 3 (6,121) (5,121)
Total provision for impairment . ... ... ... (25,772) ... (19,129
Loan receivables, net of provision 558,237 445,757
Less: Non-current portion (479,483) (348,836)
Current portion 78,754 96,921

The Group’s loan receivables, which arise from the money lending business of providing property
mortgage loans and personal loans in Hong Kong, are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the
carrying amounts approximate their fair values.

Except for personal loan receivables of HK$191,870,000 as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
HK$75,901,000) which are unsecured, loan receivables are secured by collaterals, interest-bearing
and repayable with fixed terms agreed with the customers.
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20 LOAN RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

21

The Group’s maximum credit risk exposure of loan receivables as at 31 December 2021 is set out in
Note 3.1(b).

A maturity profile of the loan receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the maturity
date, net of provision, is as follows:

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
Within one year 155,540 96,921
One to two years 38,886 59,175
Two to five years 148,070 56,548
Over five years 215,741 233,113
558,237 445,757

INTEREST RECEIVABLES
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Gross interest receivables — property mortgage loans 1,799 1,496
Gross interest receivables — personal loans 3,454 1,438
5,253 2,934

The Group’s interest receivables, which arise from the money lending business of providing property
mortgage loans and personal loans in Hong Kong, are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the

carrying amounts approximate their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Except for interest receivables of HK$3,454,000 as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
HK$1,438,000) which are unsecured, interest receivables are secured by collaterals and repayable
with fixed terms agreed with the customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk at each of the
reporting dates is the carrying value of the receivables mentioned above.

Interest receivables as at the end of the reporting period, net of provision, have maturities within
one year.

22 LEASE LIABILITIES

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

position

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000

Lease liabilities
Current portion 810 700
Non-current portion 554 148
1,364 848

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss
Nine-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 12) 25 13
Expenses relating to short-term leases (Note 11) 708 574

The total cash outflow for leases liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
HK$929,000 (nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: HK$370,000).
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23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets at amortised cost

Loan receivables (Note 20) 558,237 445,757
Interest receivables (Note 21) 5,253 2,934
Deposits and other receivables (Note 24) 1,894 1,863
Pledged bank deposit - 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 26) 180,947 256,474
746,331 709,028
Financial assets at fair_value through profit.or_loss (Note 25) .. __.__._...._.._ ... 152 ... 147
746,483 709,175

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Other payables and accruals (Note 30) 189,880 182,585
Amount due to a related company (Note 31) 1,936 2,851
Lease liabilities (Note 22) 1,364 848
193,180 186,284
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24 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Prepayments 2,205 2,226
Deposits 694 707
Other receivables 1,200 1,156
4,099 4,089

Less: non-current deposits (164) -
3,935 4,089

The carrying amounts of the Group’s deposits, prepayments and other receivables, which are neither
past due nor impaired, approximate their fair values and are mainly denominated in the following

currencies:
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
HKD 4,009 4,053
RMB 90 36
4,099 4,089
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25 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Equity securities held for trading 152 147

The financial assets are listed instruments denominated in Hong Kong dollars and are classified as
current assets.
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26 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Cash at bank and on hand 180,947 256,474
Maximum exposure to credit risk 180,947 256,474

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair values and are denominated

in the following currencies:

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

HKD 66,449 140,897
RMB 114,084 115,160
Others 414 417
180,947 256,474

Cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB which are deposited with the banks
in the PRC are not freely convertible into other currencies. The Group can apply to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business under PRC's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign

Exchange Regulations.
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27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

All deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) of the Group are expected to be recovered after more than
12 months. The gross movement in deferred income tax account is as follows:

HK$’'000
Deferred income tax assets
At 1 April 2020 2,716
Acquisition of subsidiaries 242
Debited to profit or loss (Note 14) (1,646)
Exchange differences 134
At 31 December 2020 1,446
Debited to profit or loss (Note 14) (53)
At 31 December 2021 1,393
Deferred income tax liabilities
At 1 April 2020 and 31 December 2020 (238)
Debited to profit or loss (Note 14) (33)
At 31 December 2021 (271)
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27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The nature of items giving rise to deferred income tax assets, without taking into consideration the
offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets

Provision

for

collective

impairment

Land of loans

appreciation and interest
tax receivables Others Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
At 1 April 2020 2,716 — - 2,716
Acquisition of subsidiaries - 2,462 108 2,570
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (1,572) (161) 28 (1,705)
Exchange differences 134 - - 134
At 31 December 2020 1,278 2,301 136 3,715
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (1,278) 933 (12) (357)
At 31 December 2021 - 3,234 124 3,358
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27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The nature of items giving rise to deferred income tax liabilities, without taking into consideration
the offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred income liabilities

Intangible

assets Others Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

At 1 April 2020 - (238) (238)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (2,225) (103) (2,328)
Credited to profit or loss 38 21 59
At 31 December 2020 (2,187) (320) (2,507)
Credited to profit or loss 222 49 271
At 31 December 2021 (1,965) (271) (2,236)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the
realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not
recognise deferred income tax assets of HK$13,300,000 (31 December 2020: HK$14,518,000) in
respect of losses amounting to HK$80,607,000 (31 December 2020: HK$85,481,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC corporate income tax rules and regulations, deferred tax on withholding
tax is imposed on declared dividends in respect of profits earned by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008.

Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately HK$5,283,000 (31 December 2020: approximately
HK$5,619,000) as at 31 December 2021 have not been provided for in the consolidated statement
of financial position in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the
Group’s certain PRC subsidiaries as the Group controls the dividend policy of these PRC subsidiaries
and the Company has no intention to dividend out and will continue to reinvest in China.
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28 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of  Normal value of
ordinary Shares  ordinary shares

‘000 HK$'000
Authorised:
Ordinary share of HK$0.08 each at
1 April 2020, 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2021 2,800,000 224,000
Issued and fully paid:
At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021 2,667,643 213,411

29 RESERVES

The amount of the Group's reserve and the movements therein for the current year and prior period
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity in these consolidated financial
statements.

No dividend was paid in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 (nine-month period ended 31
December 2020: Nil).
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30 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Deferred consideration payable (Note a) 185,426 178,255

Rental deposits 427 410

Accrued audit fee 1,595 1,663

Accrued employee benefits expenses 1,340 1,833

Other payables and accrued expenses 2,432 2,257

Other payables and accruals 191,220 184,418
Less: Non-current portion of deferred consideration

Payable (146,742) (166,183)

44,478 18,235

Contract liabilities (Note b) - 284

Note:
(a) Deferred consideration payable represents the purchase consideration for acquiring akasy Credit Investment and its

subsidiaries on 23 September 2020. The balances of the consideration shall be settled on or before 31 December 2023.

(b) The Group receives a fixed sum as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and purchase agreement. These
deposits are recognised as contract liabilities until the customers obtain control of the completed properties. Revenue
recognised in relation to contract liabilities:

Nine-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract
liabilities balance at beginning of the year/period 284 798
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30 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables and accruals and contract liabilities approximate
their fair values and are denominated in following currencies:

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

HKD 189,687 182,976
RMB 1,533 1,726
191,220 184,702

31 AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

The balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of these
balances approximate their fair values and are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (used in)/

generated from operations:

Nine-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Profit before income tax 31,737 46,543
Adjustments for:
Interest income on bank deposits 7 (1,681) (1,250)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 6,643 4,982
Amortisation of intangible assets 11 2,301 514
Interest expense on lease liabilities 12 25 13
Unwinding of interests on
deferred consideration payable 12 7,170 1,369
Provision for impairment of loan and
interest receivables 10 17,249 367
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment properties 8 6,780 (3,300)
Fair value (gain)/losses on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss 8 (5) 14
Gain on termination of leases (3) -
Property, plant and equipment written-off 8 8 -
Unrealised net exchange gains 8 (4,936) (15,587)
Bargain purchase from acquisition of subsidiaries - (41,300)
65,288 (7,635)
Changes in working capital:
Completed properties held for sale 484 698
Loan receivables (129,729) 17,654
Interest receivables (2,319) 345
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables (10) 445
Other payables and accruals (368) 2,623
Contract liabilities (284) (514)
Amount due from related companies - 3,264
Amount due to a related company (915) (650)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations (67,853) 16,230
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32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Lease liabilities

HK$’000
At 1 April 2020 (678)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (657)
Lease modification 17
Cash flows 370
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 (848)
Lease modification (1,448)
Lease termination 3
Cash flows 929
At 31 December 2021 (1,364)
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33 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS - GROUP AS LESSOR

The Group’s investment property of HK$179,440,000 (31 December 2020: HK$183,300,000) was
let out under operating leases.

Certain completed properties for sale with carrying amounts of HK$4,278,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$4,255,000) were also let out under operating leases. The directors of the Company considered
that those properties leased out remained being classified as completed properties for sale, by taking
into accounts of the fact the Group has put selling effort to sell the said properties and actual sales
were incurred during the period. The Group has engaged certain property agents to search potential
buyers, set up a sales office to support the sales activities and there are advertisements to boost the
sales. Moreover, the properties held for sale let out are under short term leases in order to allow
the flexibility to control the number of residential units available for sale. The management has been
actively marketing these properties held for sale at a price that is reasonable to its current fair value.

All of the properties leased out have committed tenants ranging from one month to two years (31
December 2020: six months to three years).

The future aggregate minimum lease payments receivables under non-cancellable operating leases
are as follows:

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

Less than one year 1,928 1,929
One to two years 385 1,860
Two to three years - 385
2,313 4174
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34 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control, jointly control or exert significant
influence over the other party in holding power over the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and the ability to use its power over the investee to
affect the amount of the investor’s returns. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject
to common control or joint control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

(@)  Other than the amount due to a related party (Note 31), the Company’s related party
transactions are as follows:

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000

Balance with related parties:
Loan receivables (Note iv) 29,000 29,000
Lease liabilities (Note iii) - 40

1 36 TERMBRAY INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Nine-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000

Transactions with related parties:
Administrative expense (Note i) 295 365
Rental income (Note ii) 1,860 1,395
Lease payments (Note iii) 926 16
Interest income (Note iv) 6,963 1,200

Note:

(if)

Pursuant to the tenancy agreements entered into between Panda Investment Company Limited (“Panda
Investment”) and the Group, the Group leased certain office premises of Panda Investment during the year and
terminated the tenancy agreement on 9th August 2021. The total rent paid during the year was HK$295,000
(nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: HK$365,000). Panda Investment is a wholly owned subsidiary
of Lee & Leung Family Investment Limited, the ultimate parent of the Company.

Pursuant to tenancy agreements entered into between Mr. Lee Wing Keung, a son of Mr. Lee Lap and brother
of Mr. Tommy Lee, directors of the Company, and the Group, the Group leased its land and building to Mr. Lee
Wing Keung for a term of three years from 16 March 2020 to 15 March 2023 at a monthly rent of HK$155,000
(exclusive of rates, management fee and utility charges).

The rental income recognised by the Group during the year is HK$1,860,000 (nine-month period ended 31
December 2020: HK$1,395,000).

The amount represents accruals/payments for leasing office premises to two related companies, which are
ultimately held by certain directors of the Group.

The balance represents a loan to a company in which a director is also a director of the Group. This balance
is secured by the shares of a subsidiary of the related party with interest bearing at 24% per annum. The
carrying amount of this balance approximates its fair value and is denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

In the opinion of the directors, the directors of the Company represented the key management
personnel of the Company. During the year, HK$8,598,000 (nine-month period ended 31
December 2020: HK$4,340,000) was paid to the key management personnel, details of which
are set out in Note 36.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries (Note) 938,853 938,853
Amounts due from subsidiaries 198,919 198,800
1,137,772 1,137,653
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,430 4,052
Other current assets 619 147
3,049 4,199
Total assets 1,140,821 1,141,852
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 213,411 213,411
Reserves 890,948 894,106
Total equity 1,104,359 1,107,517
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Amount due to a subsidiary 35,694 33,037
Other current liabilities 768 1,298
Total liabilities 36,462 34,335
Total equity and liabilities 1,140,821 1,141,852

Note: The Company’s balance of investment in subsidiaries represents its investment cost and the deemed investments
arising from the waiver of amounts due from subsidiaries pursuant to the relevant written statements made

by the Company on 1 April 2015.
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35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

Contributed

Share surplus Retained

premium (Note) earnings

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

At 1 April 2020 404,370 191,810 175,426

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the period - - (19,096)
Issue of ordinary shares as consideration for

a business combination 141,596 - -

At 31 December 2020 545,966 191,810 156,330

At 1 January 2021 545,966 191,810 156,330

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - (3,158)

At 31 December 2021 545,966 191,810 153,172

Note: The contributed surplus represents the difference between the shareholders’ funds of the subsidiaries acquired
and the nominal amount of the Company’s share issued as consideration for the acquisition at the time of the
group reorganisation implemented prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in 1991.
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36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments

The remuneration of the directors of the Company is set out below:

Year ended 31 December 2021

Basic salaries,
allowances and

Employer's
contribution to
a retirement

Name Fees benefits-in-kind  benefit scheme Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Executive director

Mr. Lee Lap - 4,440 - 4,440

Mr. Wong Shiu Kee (Note (iii)) - 975 49 1,024

Mr. Tommy Lee (Note (ii)) - 240 12 252

Mr. Chau Hau Shing (Note (i) - 2,504 18 2,522

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Lo Yiu Hee 120 - - 120

Mr. Tong Hin Wor 120 - - 120

Mr. Ching Yu Lung 120 - - 120

360 8,159 79 8,598
(i) Appointed on 8 April 2021.
(ii) The director is also the chief executive of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those for

services rendered by him as chief executive.

(iii) Resigned on 8 April 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES) (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (Continued)

Nine-month period ended 31 December 2020

Employer's
Basic salaries, contribution to
allowances and a retirement
Name Fees  benefits-in-kind benefit scheme Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Executive director
Mr. Lee Lap = 2,700 = 2,700
Mr. Wong Shiu Kee (Note (iii)) - 1,125 56 1,181
Mr. Tommy Lee (Note (ii)) - 180 9 189
Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Lo Yiu Hee 90 - - 90
Mr. Tong Hin Wor 90 = = 90
Mr. Ching Yu Lung 90 - - 90
270 4,005 65 4,340
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES) (CONTINUED)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in respect of their other
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries
undertaking during the year ended 31 December 2021 (nine-month period ended 31 December
2020: Nil).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the early termination of the
appointment during the year ended 31 December 2021 (nine-month period ended 31 December
2020: Nil).

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings were made available in favour of directors, body
corporates controlled by and connected entities with such directors subsisted at the end of
the period or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2021 (nine-month period ended
31 December 2020: Nil).

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the period or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2021 (nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: Nil).

During the year, the leasehold land and buildings of the Group with a rateable value of
HK$4,440,000 (nine-month period ended 31 December 2020: HK$2,700,000) were provided
as accommodation to certain directors of the Company and has been included in basic salaries,
allowances and benefits-in-kind disclosed above.
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PROPERTIES FOR SALE

LIST OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

Approximate Group'’s

gross Attribution

floor area interest

Property location Use Sg.m. %
90-124 An Lan Road, Zhongshan, Commercial and car park 15,152 100
Guangdong Province Residential 6,536 100
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following tables summarize certain consolidated financial information in respect of the Group's results,
assets and liabilities for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December Year ended 31 March
2021 2020 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Revenue 112,435 24,963 14,869 30,594 34,089
Profit/(loss) before taxation 31,737 46,543 (24,622) (11,508) 91,908
Taxation (10,470) (584) (2,361) (8,372) (8,715)
Profit/(loss) for the year/period
attributable to owners of
the Company 21,267 45,959 (26,983) (19,880) 83,193
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December As at 31 March
2021 2020 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 270,950 399,241 392,820 409,278 409,114
Investment properties 241,520 183,300 180,000 187,000 187,000
Intangible assets 11,907 14,208 - - -
Deferred income tax assets 1,393 1,446 2,716 2,600 2,716
Loan receivables 479,483 348,836 91,957 22,892 -
Deposits 164 - - - -
Pledged bank deposit - 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000
Current assets 329,188 419,898 264,194 346,714 378,369
TOTAL ASSETS 1,334,605 1,368,929 933,687 970,484 979,199
CURRENT LIABILITIES (64,136) (41,939) (24,886) (25,920) (21,554)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES (147,567) (166,569) (441) (238) (238)
NET ASSETS 1,122,902 1,160,421 908,360 944,326 957,407

Equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company 1,122,902 1,160,421 908,360 943,909 956,990
Non-controlling interests - - - 417 417
TOTAL EQUITY 1,122,902 1,160,421 908,360 944,326 957,407
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

PER SHARE DATA

Nine months
ended
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 March
31 December 2020 2020 2019 2018
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
Basic earnings/(loss) per share 0.80 2.17 (1.38) (1.02) 4.25
Dividends per share

Interim dividend (note 1) - - - - 8.71
Final dividend - - - - -
Net asset value per share 42.10 43.50 46.40 48.24 48.91

Note 1:  The Company distributed a special interim dividend of 524,648,320 shares of Petro-king with a fair value of approximately

HK$170,511,000 to its shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2018.
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